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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company,
| am pleased to present the annual report together with the annual
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).

2020 was a challenging year due to the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19") pandemic which decelerated global
economy as a result. Due to gloomy economic prospects and
market conditions, crude oil prices fluctuated throughout the year.
Business activities have been further disrupted because of various
anti-epidemic measures imposed by governments.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$240.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$111.0 million or 31.6% as compared to the
Group's revenue of approximately HK$351.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. Loss attributable to the owners of the
Company was approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2021, representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.2
million from a profit of approximately HK$1.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERBESE

Going forward, we strive to maintain a steady business scale, to
improve operational efficiency and to stay extra alert and flexible
in adapting to new challenges. We will implement the Group’s
business strategies step by step in order to strengthen the Group’s
position as an established diesel oil provider in Hong Kong and
create long-term shareholder’s value.

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to offer my appreciation and
gratitude to our shareholders, business partners and customers for
their utmost support to the Group. We would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their
hard work and dedication throughout the year.

Law Ming Yik
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong. The services of the Group include sourcing
and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong. Most of the Group’s customers are logistic companies and
construction companies which require diesel oil to operate their
logistic fleets. In addition to the sale services as described above,
the Group also provides ancillary transportation service to one of
the four major international oil suppliers in Hong Kong (the "“Qil
Major”) whereby it helps the Oil Major in transporting diesel oil to
its customers. The Group had eight diesel tank wagons of various
capacity as at 31 March 2021.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a
deceleration in global economic growth expectations which
dampened investors’ confidence in general. Crude oil prices have
fallen significantly since the beginning of 2020, largely driven by
the economic contraction caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Business activities have been further disrupted as a result of anti-
epidemic measures taken by The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region ("HKSAR Government”) and the
People’s Republic of China (“mainland China”).

Since the third quarter of 2020, reinforced customs clearance
arrangements between mainland China and Hong Kong have been
implemented such that cross-border trucks drivers from Hong Kong
must present a valid proof of a negative COVID-19 nucleic acid
test result, or possess relevant mainland China health codes, when
crossing the border. As a result, cross-border transportation service
was seriously affected and market demand for diesel oil from the
logistics sector was reduced.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

In order to reduce the risk of infection and spread of COVID-19
among construction site workers, and to prevent the outbreak of
COVID-19 on construction sites, various anti-epidemic measures
have been imposed and implemented by the HKSAR Government
which led to the suspension of construction projects. As a result, the
market demand for diesel oil for machineries on construction sites
was uncertain.

The Group has recorded a revenue of approximately HK$240.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2021, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$111.0 million or 31.6%, as compared to the
Group's revenue of approximately HK$351.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020. The decrease was mainly due to decrease
in the sale of diesel oil as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak which
has caused severe disruption to manufacturing and logistic activities
between Hong Kong and the Mainland China.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2021 representing a decrease of approximately HK$9.2
million as compared with the year ended 31 March 2020.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The uncertainty as to when the COVID-19 pandemic can be fully
contained had made the Group's operating environment extremely
challenging. The Group will continue to closely monitor the
development of the COVID-19 pandemic, pay close attention to its
cash flow management, integrate existing resources and actively
adjust business plans to ensure stability of its operations amid such
difficult times while being fully prepared for business recovery
immediately upon the COVID-19 pandemic being contained.

Furthermore, the Group will continue to carefully review the current
situation of the COVID-19 pandemic to reduce related risks in its
business operations and continue to adopt suitable precautionary
measures to ensure the safety of all the staff and working partners
as necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$111.0 million
or approximately 31.6% from approximately HK$351.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$240.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid
accounted for approximately HK$239.4 million and HK$0.5
million respectively, representing approximately 99.7% and 0.2%
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31
March 2021. For the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue
from the sale of diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid accounted for
approximately HK$348.3 million and HK$0.6 million respectively,
representing approximately 99.2% and 0.2% respectively, of
the Group’s total revenue. Sale of diesel oil remained the largest
contributor to the Group’s revenue.

The Group recorded an ancillary transportation service income of
approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$0.2 million for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, respectively. The service was to
help the Oil Major transport the diesel oil to its customers, however
such service was suspended since January 2021.

Sales quantity

The sales quantity of diesel oil increased by approximately 7.5%
from 81.0 million litres for the year ended 31 March 2020 to 87.1
million litres for the year ended 31 March 2021, which showed
more diesel oil was required from the Group's logistics customers
during the year ended 31 March 2021. The sales quantity of
diesel exhaust fluid decreased by approximately 20.1% from
127.7 thousand litres for the year ended 31 March 2020 to 102.0
thousand litres for the year ended 31 March 2021.

REBHKGEMREE2020FE3831HIEEE
#3511 BEEBTRLA11.08EBTHE
31.6%E#E2021F3831HIEFELN240.15
BATTe

RESMAERRRHEENWEDF4239.4
BEEBTKROSEEET DG EAEEEE
2021F3B3 1B IEFENWmEEE4999.7%
F0.2% c & FE 20203831 HIEFE > s B L
HERBERREHENWR RS FN348 388 E
TTR0.6BEBIL P L AEBEWELEELY
99.2%/0.2% c S HIHE M E AN EBE R @R
RERE

BZE2021FE K2020FE3831HIEEE  AER
DREFSEEEHRFBIMALIIEEBTK
O2EBAT ARBEAEDNTELHEEE
BEHTEER  AMZRFEE2021F1 8L
ko

Gl

RS B R E E2020F3831HEFEEST.0
BEHEMAN7 5% EEHE2021F3831H 1L
FEVIAST RMEE2021F3831HLE
FE AEENYRERMENSBIGM-
BERREHEMREE2020FE3831HILEEE
127, 70075049201 % =8 E20214E3831H
IEFEFE102,0007+ ©

IR A RAR 2020/2021 4R 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

Selling price

The average selling price of the Group's diesel oil decreased by
approximately 36.0% from HK$4.30 per litre for the year ended 31
March 2020 to HK$2.75 per litre for the year ended 31 March 2021
whereas the average selling price of the Group’s diesel exhaust
fluid decreased by approximately 1.7% from HK$4.59 per litre for
the year ended 31 March 2020 to HK$4.51 per litre for the year
ended 31 March 2021. The decrease of the average selling price of
the Group's diesel oil was in line with the decreasing trend in the
prevailing market prices.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of diesel oil, diesel exhaust
fluid, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase cost for
diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid depends on the domestic purchase
price offered by the Group's oil suppliers, with reference to the price
indices such as Europe Brent spot crude price.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's cost of sales was
approximately HK$238.0 million, representing a decrease of 29.7%
from HK$338.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such
decrease was in line with the overall drop in revenue and average
unit selling price.

The largest component of the cost of sales was diesel oil cost,
which amounted to approximately HK$330.6 million and HK$230.4
million, representing approximately 97.7% and 96.8% of the cost
of sales for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, respectively.
The average unit purchase cost of diesel oil decreased by 35.0%
from approximately HK$4.08 per litre for the ended 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$2.65 per litre for the year ended 31 March
2021. The decrease in average unit purchase cost of diesel oil was
in line with the market trend for the year ended 31 March 2021.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, the diesel exhaust
fluid costs were approximately HK$0.4 million and HK$0.3 million
respectively, representing approximately 0.1% and 0.1% of the
cost of sales, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

The direct labour costs comprise wages and benefits, including
wages, bonuses, retirement benefit costs and other allowances
and benefits payable to the diesel tank wagons drivers and logistics
assistants involved in the transportation of the products from the
oil depot to the customers. The direct labour costs amounted to
approximately HK$2.2 million and HK$2.6 million for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2021, respectively. The Group had
eleven full-time drivers responsible for the logistics support for the
Group's diesel tank wagons as at 31 March 2021.

Depreciation represented depreciation charges for the Group’s
equipments which consist mainly of diesel tank wagons. The
depreciation amounted to approximately HK$1.6 million and
HK$2.4 million for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021,
respectively.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost
of sales. The Group recorded a decrease in gross profit by
approximately HK$10.5 million or approximately 83.3% from
approximately HK$12.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020
to approximately HK$2.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2021. The Group's gross profit margin decreased from 3.6% for the
year ended 31 March 2020 to 0.9% for the year ended 31 March
2021 because the Group (i) faced increase in labour costs and
depreciation; and (i) offered a competitive price in a bid to maintain
sales level amidst an incredibly difficult business environment.

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses mainly include
administrative staff costs, professional service fees, entertainment,
rent and rate and others. The Group’s administrative and other
operating expenses decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million or
4.1% from approximately HK$9.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2020 to approximately HK$9.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

Income tax expenses

All of the Group's profit are derived from Hong Kong and subject
to Hong Kong income tax. The Group's income tax decreased by
approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net profit decreased
by approximately HK$9.2 million from a profit of approximately
HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to a loss of
approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
and the Group's net profit margin for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2021 are 0.48% and a negative of 3.12% respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and banking facilities. The Group recorded net
current assets of approximately HK$45.7 million as at 31 March
2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$55.2 million and the Group’s current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$9.4 million. Current ratio was
approximately 5.9 as at 31 March 2021. Current ratio is calculated
by current assets over current liabilities at the end of the year.

As at 31 March 2021, the maximum limit of the banking facilities

available to the Group was approximately HK$5.0 million and
approximately HK$1.3 million of the banking facilities was utilised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, being the ratio of bank loan to total equity, of the
Group as at 31 March 2021 was 2.3% (2020: nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed in
note 3 of the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that our risk management practices are
important and uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to
mitigate the risks present in our operations and financial position as
efficiently and effectively as possible. The followings are the major
risks and uncertainties of the Group's business:

e The Group's earnings, cash flows and financial condition may
be adversely affected if the Group uses an incorrect oil and
gas price assumptions to evaluate projects and commercial
opportunities;

e Transportation service of diesel oil can be disrupted if there is
reliance on one single oil supplier in Hong Kong;

e Loss of customers due to price competitions and global
economic slowdown; and

e Disruptions to operation due to difficulty in retaining
employees.

For other risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing, please
refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the the prospectus of
the Company dated 21 December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

An analysis of the Group's financial risk management (including
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk) objectives and policies are
provided in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISK

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is not exposed to any
foreign exchange risks throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the capital structure of the
Group consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$55.2 million. The share capital
of the Group only comprises ordinary shares. The shares of the
Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 8 January
2019 (the “Listing Date"”). There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group
strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its
customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group's assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have

any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had HK$1.1 million of capital
commitments in respect of the acquisition of property and
equipment that have not been provided in the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Reporting Period, the payment for capital expenditure
of the Group decreased by approximately HK$2.6 million or 45.6%
as compared with last year to approximately HK$3.1 million (2020:
approximately HK$5.7 million), which was mainly related to the
payment for the purchase of diesel tank wagons.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and in the paragraph headed
"Comparison of implementation plans for business strategies with
actual implementation progress” below in this report, the Group
does not have any future plans for material investments or capital
assets as at the date of this report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant events have taken place after the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS IR RIRMITEI I BB R ITEER LR

FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group’s implementation U NABRER IRK 8 RFAERIEB R
plans for its business strategies up to 31 March 2021 as set out —EIFFEAEBESREHETTEEETSE
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the 20213831 HAEBBRIETEEMLILER :

Prospectus with the Group's actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan up to

Business strategy 31 March 2021
EFRIR BEXE2021F38318 #1712
Expansion and enhancement of — Replace two existing diesel tank
the Group's fleet of wagons
diesel tank wagons — A MEIRE NS HATIEE

BRI E RSB MITEEERK

— Order two new diesel tank
wagons

— 5] BT B AT B B

— Order one new diesel tank
wagon
— ] B — T AE AT AR B
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Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2021
EXE2021E3831HNBREITEE

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered to replace existing
diesel tank wagons and were
available for use in October 2019

— BT M AT B EAIRE
B mETIEEE > W 2702019108
‘AR

— Two new diesel tank wagons have
been ordered and were available for
use in April 2020

— BT Em@mRChT S W
2020F4B R AER

— One new diesel tank wagon has been
ordered in May 2020 and is expected
to be delivered by June 2021

— 10202058 » B5T BE— W 52 0M
ITHEE > WA R 120216 B Al
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ERBEARKID A

Business strategy

ES

Upgrading the Group’s information
technology and systems

RAXREENERR KRR

Strengthening the Group’s manpower

e AEEBATF

Implementation plan up to
31 March 2021
BEE2021E3H318 #1718

— Purchase a enterprise resource
planning system
—BEEXBERRE AR

— Recruit four drivers and two
logistics assistants to strengthen
the Group’s workforce required
for the Group's fleet of

diesel tank wagons

— RN S R WY R B
s A E B hETE
BEBMRBIIAL

Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2021

BEE2021F3A3 1B BRIETERE

— The Group discussed with a potential
vendor for the requirements and
specification of the new office
administrative information technology
system upgrade

—REEMFTRAZTHENREKR
MARNER LR EEEEE 5

N
off

Four drivers and two logistics assistants
were hired as at 31 March 2020
—1202043H31H  BEREAN%E
1 B2 i W) B 3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERBEARKRDR

Business strategy

ET5RE

Working Capital
SESES

Implementation plan up to
31 March 2021
BEE2021538318 #1718

Recruit two accounting staff to
support the Group on a wide
spectrum of accounting and
company secretarial matters
REMLEtAE HEAEER
BEZNE RABIMENSE
IR

Recruit one administrative staff
to support the expansion of the
Group

BE—XITHBAE HEAEER
iERIR M 45

To be used as working capital
and funding for other general
corporate purposes according
to the Group's current business
plans
REBEAERERNERSE)
RFEEES kAEM—AR
REARREHES
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Actual implementation

progress up to

31 March 2021
EXE2021F3A31HNBRIETERE

— One senior accountant has been hired
to provide financial and secretarial
support to our Group

—BEA—%ERE AEEED
B RMEEHIRMF

— One administrative staff was hired in
May 2019
— BR2019F58BA—%1THAR

— The Group remain focused on
maintaining and investing in the
Group's working capital in order to
fund the Group’s expanding business
and enhance the Group’s operating
liquidity as well as to pursuit business
and revenue growth

—REEEBRNIERAREREE
ERNSEES METRERER
EB RN EIERENRFARERT
EiERNEBREESS RS AE
ErEE RN



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

USE OF PROCEEDS

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 8 January 2019 by way of share offer. The Directors
intend to apply the net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) from
the share offer in accordance with the proposed implementation
plan as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The Net Proceeds, after deducting
underwriting commission and other listing expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$34.8 million. Details of the change in use of Net
Proceeds are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3
July 2020 (the "UOP Announcement”) and 18 August 2020 (the
"Supplemental Announcement”). Set out below is the actual
use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March 2021:

FRIGRIERR

RABIBI D AP ZEEB R 2019F1 8
SHTEMARFIGEMEM - EFRIZRIBRERE
(TRt 8 R FTBRBR®R) —MENE=E
BNt EEARMDEEMERIEFE (B
MIBSREE)) KNG aEEEeREM EHEY
B FIERIEREAN3LSEBE BT BFFR
BRIBFEAREBEHNAAB HEEA2020
F7AHZzZ R (TEERSMIBEBREAM)
K2020F8H18H 2 A (IR AMI) cBEE
2021331 B MIBFRENE R A RN
X

Expected timeline

Revised allocation of for fully
Intended Thechange  the Net Proceeds utilising the
allocation of inuseof s setforth in the Unused total  unutilised amount
Net Proceeds as Net Proceeds as  UOP Announcement Actual use of Net Proceeds asat
set forth in the setforthin the ~ and the Supplemental Net Proceeds up up to 31 March 2021
Prospectus  UOP Announcement Announcement to 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 (Note 1)
E8BA
SEFMENA EE BE  MoEpA
RREEAE HEMGRE  PRAGRRRAR W21%3R31H ANE3[3A ABELEN
FERERE  BROGMERE  MARGHERE FriEREREN ABE4 REREE
HERR  RESERRER MEETE BRAR GRS (1)
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEET BEET EEET BEET EEET
Purchase of diesel tank wagons (Vore 2) ~ BEEMETRE (1752 150 - 150 13 37 By 31 March
203
(Note 3)
203E
383185
3)
Expand manpower BEAD 125 (108 17 17 - NATER
Upgrade information technology systems ~~ FHRERRI R &4 50 - 50 - 50 By 31 March
2023
(Note 4)
203E
383185
(Hz4)
Working capitl gEge 23 108 131 131 - NARBE
Total Eh 348 8 2.1 87
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRDH

Notes:

20

The expected timeline for fully utilising the unutilised Net Proceeds is based
on the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group.
It may be subject to change based on the current and future development
of market conditions.

One new diesel tank wagon has been ordered in May 2020 and is

expected to be delivered by June 2021.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the original expected timeline for the Net
Proceeds in the purchase diesel tank wagons to be fully utilised by 31
March 2021. However, the Group has not fully utilised the planned Net
Proceeds in accordance with the proceeds allocation as set out in the
Prospectus. As a result, there was a delay in fully utilising the Net Proceeds
assigned to purchase of diesel tank wagons. It is expected the unutilised
amount of approximately HK$3.7 million will be fully utilised by 31 March
2023 as set out in the above table. Save as disclosed above, the Directors
are not aware of any material change to the implementation plans in

relation to the Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the Supplemental Announcement, the Group planned to
utilise approximately HK$5.0 million of the Net Proceeds for upgrading
the information technology systems of the Group and such proposal was
still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements and
specification of the new office administrative information technology
systems as at 31 March 2020. As such the original expected timeline as
set out in the Prospectus will be extended to 31 March 2021. Nonetheless,
the Company will continue to adopt a prudent approach for such purpose
and will continue to apply the Net Proceeds in accordance with the
proceeds allocation as set out in the Prospectus and it is expected to be
fully utilised by 31 March 2023 as set out in the above table. Save as
disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any material change to
the implementation plans in relation to the Net Proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEERRRDH

Save as discussed, the Group will apply the Net Proceeds in the
manners consistent with the proposed applications set out in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus. The implementation plans for business strategies and
use of Net Proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the
best estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The Group
implemented its business strategies and applied the Net Proceeds
based on the actual development of the Group’s business and
industry, as well as market conditions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group engaged a total of 27 employees
(31 March 2020: 24 employees) including the Directors. For
the year ended 31 March 2021, total staff costs amounted to
approximately HK$7.3 million (year ended 31 March 2020:
approximately HK$6.6 million). Remuneration (including
employees’ benefits) is maintained within the market level and
reviewed on a periodic basis. Employees’ salary and relevant
benefits are determined on the basis of performance, qualification,
experience, positions and the Group’s business performance.

ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. These laws and regulations cover
a broad range of environmental matters, including air pollution,
noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil products or other hazardous
substances. The Group recognises the importance of environmental
protection and has implemented various environmental protection
measures in order to minimise the operation impact on the
environment and natural resources. Details of environment policies
and performance are set out in the section headed “Environment,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 43 to 80 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGRS

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance within the Group and therefore has adopted
sound corporate governance practices. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on the Corporate Governance
"CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors strongly

Code and Corporate Governance Report (the

believe that reasonable and sound corporate governance practices
are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and
enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that throughout the year ended 31 March
2021, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the management and administration of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
board committees of the Company. Further details of the board
committees of the Company are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Group by the direction and supervision of
the Group's business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility
for day to day management of the Group which is delegated
to the management. To this end, monthly financial and
operational information are provided to the Board for assessing
the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries. For
significant matters that are specifically delegated by the Board,
the management must report back to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXELRHRS

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the

corporate governance duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1
of the CG Code, which include:

(a)

d)

to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Up to the date of this report, the Board comprised five Directors, of

whom two are executive Directors and three are independent non-

executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as

follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fenn David

Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew

Mr. Ho Cheung Kong
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EEXELGRS

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or
substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board
as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and
experience. The composition of the Board is in accordance with
the requirement of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.
There are three independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has accounting professional qualification. More than one-
third of the members of the Board are independent non-executive
Directors, which brings a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors
in the Board brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategies,
performance, conflicts of interests and management process to
ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)"”) have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed
"“Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 108 to 114 of this report. Other than that Mr. Law Ming Yik
is the cousin of Mr. Li Isaiah, there are no family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group’s activities
with a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’
value. The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-
day management of the Group as well as the implementation of
the Board’s policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.
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EEXELRRS

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), on 11 December 2018 and
delegated them with powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company's affair. Each of the committees of the Board has been
established with written terms of reference.

The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means
of electronic communication in accordance with the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles”). The chairman also meets
with the independent non-executive Directors at least once a year
without the presence of the other executive Director. Notices and
agendas of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least 14 days before convening the Board meeting. For all other
Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. All other schedules and the relevant information of each
Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access

to the management whenever necessary.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the Board meetings,
meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee held during the year is set out below:

Board
Name of Directors Meeting
EE4 EXgER
Executive Directors: niTES
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman) BLELE (ZE) 4/4
Mr. Li Isaiah FRHELE 414
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFQTES
Mr. Fenn David BERLE 4/4
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRBRE 474
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong ARIEE 44
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The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters
arising from corporate governance, risk management, statutory
compliance, accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their

associates have a material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election and Rotation of Directors

In compliance with the code provision in A.4.2 of the CG Code, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Furthermore, pursuant to the Articles provide that
at each annual general meeting (the “AGM"), one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years.
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The Directors were appointed for a specific term and are subject
to re-election. Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company. The service contract of each of
the executive Directors is for and initial of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, which and will continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The
appointment letter of each of the independent non-executive
Directors is for a term of one year commencing from the Listing
Date, which shall be automatically renewed unless terminated
by either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. The
aforesaid appointment letters are subject to termination provisions
therein and the retirement and re-election provisions in the Articles.
Details of the appointment letters are summarised in the Report of
the Board of Directors on page 85 of this report.

The AGM for the year 2019 was convened on 20 August 2020,
pursuant to which some of the Directors were re-elected in the
meeting. The re-election of Directors for the year 2020 will be
proceeded in the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends each of the Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of
the Company. The Company is of the view that all Directors had
complied with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David, Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr. Ho Cheung
Kong were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 11 December 2018.
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The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting,
legal, finance, industry knowledge and expertise. With their
professional knowledge and experience, the independent non-
executive Directors serve an important function of advising the
senior management on strategy development and ensure that the
Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders and the Company
as a whole; and participate in the Company’s various committees
including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Law Ming Yik was appointed as the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and was re-designated as an executive Director of the
Company on 24 November 2017. Mr. Li Isaiah was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive
Officer”) and was re-designated as an executive Director of the
Company on 24 November 2017.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Law Ming
Yik is the Chairman who provides leadership to the Board and
is also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. Mr. Li Isaiah is the Chief
Executive Officer who is responsible for the implementation of the
business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board and
is accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group.
These functions and responsibilities are current being shared by
the management team. The Board believes that this arrangement
enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly,
and thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and
effectively. The Board also believes that the Company already has a
strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure effective
oversight of management.

28 SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

BEBIUFRITEFIAEREENFEEAL
REEBHES ER ERSERANEXER
FELURATEN B AT R - BRENFHEENR
&R BUFATEESERRBEEROD SR
EEERHER BREFEEFSTENY
BRAMBFHPFRUKRERHECZEETR
D URERR R AR BNERN w75 |
WREZAG , K2ROEEZEZET  F
ZEERRLEZEGENNEARATZEEZE

==l

ARBEBWEZEBIUFRTEFTHHNAR
HIE I EBIRERR R R AT TFRIEGEM LT AR
AIE5.09F R EMSBILIFHNITEST RBILA
+o

FERITHAAR
BLELEEN2017FE11H24HESEAERA
aEFEgxR ((XFE) UATARITES =
R ER2017FE11B24HEZTAETAT
ITEAER (TTHARE) R EABMITES-

TEEEBTHTINRNBA2MFEE » THE K
TERENBERT&ER > FrEAE— AL
F-TRBELEALEERAEEET BER
REFERBERIFEXE AT RAMEFIL
BEAEEEGURRBNBREREE 17
BB FREEEEEBREFTEMHIEN
EBRE - BERKRER U AEEEEZSE
MEFTESE ZEREKBERHEERK
NE-BFERR WL AR AT EE
ERAITRE M SRt B B Z A A
AER-ERGT0A AATEHBEREN
EEEARBRURREVNEEEEE-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELRRS

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 11 December
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The full terms of reference setting out details of
the authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is
available on both the GEM's website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ho Cheung Kong, Mr. Wong Ka Chun
Matthew and Mr. Fenn David. Mr. Ho Cheung Kong is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management system,
overseeing the balance, transparency and integrity of the
Company'’s financial statements and the application of financial
reporting principles, reviewing the relationship with the external
auditor and its independence assessment and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, Mazars CPA
Limited, and recommended the Board to re-appoint Mazars CPA
Limited as the Company’s auditors in the year ending 31 March
2022, which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the
Audit Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the
external auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is
necessary.
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Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision B.1.2
of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr. Fenn David and
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong) and one executive Director namely Mr. Law
Ming Yik. Mr. Fenn David is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group, review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The full terms of reference setting out details of
duties of the Remuneration Committee is available on both the
GEM'’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code
provision B.1.2(c)(i) of the CG Code to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company. It is also
responsible for approving the terms of the services contracts of
the executive Directors. The Company also looks into individual
Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, performance
and the results of the Group in determining the exact level of
remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, meeting shall be held at least once a year and
additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

30 SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

ERTERZZEGERRUAKEFHFENGT
BN AREF2BEERBRESEH
BB —E&le

FNEEE

AT F2018F 12811 HREGEM EH#RE]
F5.3ME B EBIATRIST BRI EB.1.218 L
UHNEEE UEEEEmMESE FHIME
EEHMBBEIIIERTES EEERLER
AIRIEE) R—RHITES RIERZELE)
AR BB REEEATNEEGEE-

FNEEENTIEREAMNEERERES
kEehEEBNERFHERRRNBERAESR
SEHEERR , BERKMLEEEEFHMNEZ
& RIERETEES B1TE E N - 85 % M
LZECHSFBENENBELE I INGEMAE
UG R AN B UL B o

FINEEGEEBREME RWEFEERTRIT
AMERSCEEB. 1. 2() (MR IR T BY 75 $ B TE 18 B 1T
EERANDEREBENFHNGE -HIT 8
BEERPTEERBIONER - REERE
EZHEOIFMK TR XRTTEBEEEA
BN BB -BEE-REBERAERZEE-

REHFNEEENBREE SEREDRET
—REHWEREZEENERETHRING

=3
o ©



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELRRS

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting
held and Directors attendance are set out in the section headed
“Number of Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in
this report.

Senior Management’s remuneration
Senior Management's remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 falls within the following bands:

HK$
BT

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary
bonus and other merit payments are linked to the performance
of the Group and the individual performance of the Directors and

senior management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 11
December 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
code provision A.5.2 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
consists of two independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr.
Wong Ka Chun Matthew and Mr. Fenn David) and one executive
Director (namely Mr. Law Ming Yik). Mr. Law Ming Yik is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the committee has
set for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure
in the Company's corporate governance report as appropriate);
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full
terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee is available on both
the GEM'’s website and the Company'’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year
and additional meetings should be held if the committee shall so
request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and other factors listed in the policy for
the nomination of Directors, including (i) reputation for integrity;
(i) experience; (ii) availability; (iv) professional qualifications; and
(v) Board diversity as well as discussing matters regarding the
retirement and re-election of Directors. The Nomination Committee
would consider the need for nomination of new directors and
would make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
directors at general meetings or to the Directors for appointment to
fill casual vacancies.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and

Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’” Attendance” on page 25 in this report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
each financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”). In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board
has adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and
made prudent, fair and reasonable judgments and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of affairs,
operating results, cash flows and equity movement of the Group
at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 115 to 122 of this
report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration for the
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group was as follows:

Services rendered

RS

Annual audit service for the year ended
31 March 2021 %

Services provided in connection with certain
agreed-upon procedures

Total 485

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply
with the “comply or explain” principle in its corporate governance
report which will be included in its annual reports upon the Listing.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement as set out in
the CG Code, which is summarised as below:

The Board Diversity Policy of the Company specifies that in
designing the composition the Board, Board diversity shall be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. All Board members’ appointment will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board. Selection of candidates for the Board will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture, ethnicity and educational background, professional
experience, knowledge and skills.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made specific
enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have complied with
the code of conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this report.

EFESZIEER
AABERBEREATAFMHEERMNE
FEZRERR (EEESTEEE) »BXR
WEWMT :

ARBEFEE Tt REEEIREESFS
RERERENZETEEREFESTIE
BREEBRAERER XERBBEHR FEXRE
B BAERA#H EFEMENMAEZREIU
FAMEA R > T 7EE 8 52 B LU BIF
HEARESESTIENaR BESEEHRE
AFRER—RS|ZTEEHR FEEFRN
MR FE - XE-BEABBEESR FEK
B~ R e b Bt

RUZEEREFELFXEARSPREE
SEER TEREFEZTCERIATT
REZEEREVREMIFIFLEST I
MERNEREST NEFEREBERESR UM
E=gEL-

ERETESRS

NAB ERMGEM LM FRAI 5554885671 7F
AEXGEMEFETESI R ZIBTEH]o
RAEEFHRETHR AR EER 2
BEEOREE2021F3831HIEREFER
BEARREGSHEETIRTER o

IR A RAR 2020/2021 4R 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXELGRS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through the annual general meeting
or other general meetings to communicate with the Shareholders
and encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions
put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on relevant
information on the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

From the Listing Date to the date of this report, there has been
no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’s AGM will be held on Thursday, 19 August 2021.
The notice of the AGM will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Principles and Guidelines

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and future
business growth.

The Board has discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the

Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.
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The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

a. financial results;

b. cash flow situation;

c.  business conditions and strategies;

d. future operations and earnings;

e. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

f.  interests of Shareholders;

g. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

h. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period as:

1. interim dividend;

2. final dividend;

3. special dividend; and

4. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
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Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the

Company in accordance with the Articles.

REVIEW OF THE DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board shall review the dividend policy as appropriate from time

to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

38

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM") on requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require the EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders” meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall
be sent to the Company Secretary by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene the EGM by following the procedures set out in
“Convening of the EGM on requisition by Shareholders”
above.
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() Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions,
inquiries and consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive
Officer, in writing to the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the enquiries.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. The Company is committed
to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate information
to its Shareholders and investment public. The Company updates
its Shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports.
The corporate website of the Company (www.skhl.com.hk) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company has established an inside information disclosure
policy. The Board is responsible for timely, accurate and
complete dissemination of inside information about the Group
to the market by making proper and timely disclosure of inside
information announcements. Our policy strictly requires our
Directors, management and employees to keep unpublished inside
information confidential and refrain from dealing in the Company’s
securities if they are in possession of such inside information.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai, our Company Secretary, is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the
Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control include a defined management
structure with limits in authority, is designed to (i) help achieve
business objectives; (i) safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition; (iii) ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication; and (iv) ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment
within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the
Board together, and reports directly to the Board.
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In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed
to various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified
into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

risks.
Risk Areas Principal Risks
2 Bz E IR FERRE

Strategic Risks

THEAEEXKART HEBRSERER -
?&i2021$3ﬁ315¢fﬁf’¢$ﬁﬁk/”;'JEz
BT EER D FEA KRR SERR-
B1 75 R Bez EZA%EHBM

Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new development and customers’

expectation; market competition risk; reputation risk

BRBS LR

Operational Risks

HEFBERIVSRE ; RIFHERREFHE

s MEHRF AR BERR

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

ZERRE FTAOtate ; TH  ERRR ARG

Financial Risks

/H\ZI.%%}EHS/@ /)\L@]ﬁ%ﬂﬁfﬂ ) TI:I ﬂ[ﬂ

Compliance Risks

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; foreign exchange risk; inflation risk

s MR ELER

s SNEEELER 5 AR B

Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances

related to employment; change of listing rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances
R AR
R~ B FR B K IRl 8B 2

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated the executive management with the
responsibility to carry out the risk identification and monitoring
procedures. The objectives of the risk management are to enhance
the governance and corporate management processes as well as to
safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels of risks and losses.

The risk management process of the Group will involve, among
others, (i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which
involves assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and
the development of risk management plans for mitigating such
risks; and (i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk
management plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan
when necessary.
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During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
with a view to ensure that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will identify and
inform the Board of any material issues.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s internal control and risk
management system annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The
Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and
are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint
external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless,
the Directors have the overall responsibility for risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing its effectiveness and will
continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
function.

GOING FORWARD

The Group will continue to review its corporate governance
standards on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the
necessary actions to ensure compliance with the required practices
and standards including the provisions of the CG Code.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (“Sun Kong"” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present
its Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") report. The
content contained herein focuses on providing an overview of the
environmental, social and governance performance of its major
operations in Hong Kong from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021
(the “Reporting Year"). It helps the Group to keep a close eye on
its current performance as well as the opportunities to improve its
performance. The Reporting Year coincides with its financial year.

Scope of the Report

The ESG report has been prepared in accordance with
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
"ESG Reporting Guide"”) set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG report
summarizes the Group’s ESG performance from the Reporting Year,
and covers its management policies, mechanisms, and measures
in place during the Reporting Year with respect to environmental
protection, emission reduction, safe workplace, personnel
training and drills, supply chain management and community
investment and engagement. Focuses are placed on certain aspects
closely relevant to its Shareholders and stakeholders, and its full
commitment to sustainable development of the Group as a whole.

The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide and the Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating
and determining the Group's ESG-related risks and ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.
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Feedback

For details of the ESG performance of the Group, corporate
governance as well as financial performance, please visit the
Group's website at http://www.skhl.com.hk and its annual reports.

ABOUT THE COMPANY
The Business of the Group

The Group was listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange in 2019 (stock
code: 8631). Its sales services include sourcing diesel oil through
oil trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons
to collect diesel oil from oil depots designated by the suppliers,
and eventually delivering diesel oil to destinations designated by
the customers. With the delivery capacity and flexibility to devise
delivery schedule for the customers, the Group enjoys a competitive
edge in the industry.

Goal

To become the leading diesel oil provider focusing on the logistics
sector in Hong Kong.

Board of Directors (the “Board”)

As at the date of the ESG report, the Board of the Company consists
of:

Executive Directors
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Independent Non-executive Directors

WITES
Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
EREESLE ()
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)
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PARTICIPATION OF STAKEHOLDERS BhEnNaH

The Group actively strives to better understand and engages it
stakeholders to ensure continuous improvements. The Group
strongly believes that its stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining
the success of its business in the challenging market.

Stakeholders

FinE

The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

BBMRFR

Probable issues of concern

BUENBIER

Compliance with Listing Rules, and timely

and accurate announcements

BT EHARA BRREEEL AR

AEEBRBRNONBERAT EFHELRAE
EEUERENSIFENRA -AEER
5 FER MBS R EFERSRK
MBI ENEEMEENAE

Communication and responses
-G

Meetings, training, roadshows, workshops,

programs, website updates and
announcements

T B RE Y TIEH - IEE
i YN

ML S

The Government

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention of tax evasion, and social

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other

welfare information

BT BT ERROER - BRUERRRETE BEHAEH BRFEE -RELKEMER
=l

Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand Field investigation

HrEm TR RENES BithE &R

Shareholders/Investors

RRREE

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns

EERRT ER R R R
E=AEIE

i

i M

A

Organizing and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders’ meetings,
providing financial reports and/or
operation reports to investors, media and
analysts
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Stakeholders
FinE
Media and Public

Probable issues of concern

BENRIEEHE

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human right

Communication and responses

BB B

Publishing newsletters on the corporate

website

LY N TEER RRRARE INYNGIE R S R
Customers Product quality, delivery times, reasonable  Field investigation and after-sales services
prices, service value, labour protection
and work safety
e EmB R XNEE - 5B ER IR EMER R EBRS
BE-FIRERIEZSE
Employees Rights and benefits, employee Discussion between employees and
compensation, training and executives, trainings, interviews with
development, work hours, and working employees, employee handbooks, internal
environment memos, employee suggestion boxes
(== R K AER ~ B E R ~ B R ﬁ@%&%%ﬁﬁwﬁm\ﬁﬁékﬁﬁ
TR B e TARIR IR $ TR EEFM - FEANINE SR
ﬁiﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
Community Community environment, employment Community activities, employee
and community development, and volunteering activities, community
social welfare welfare, subsidies and charitable
donations
& HERE - BEEAMEZEREUEMEES He&EFH EEXLEH HEATER

o
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SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group strongly believes in the virtues of sustainable
development, and that its business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. While pursuing
growth in sales of diesel oil in Hong Kong, the Group stays
committed to protecting the nature. The Group endeavors to
integrate components of environmental sustainability into its
business operations through various measures, so as to raise its
employees’ awareness, as well as better monitor its carbon emission
level and the relevant intensity.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not find any material
non-compliance issue with relevant laws and regulations related to
the environment. The Group will continue to be alert to any non-
compliance behavior related to critical environmental issues.

Emissions

The Group is committed to promoting environmental health
and human well-being. Environmental protection and emissions
reduction are always the top priority at the Group. The emissions
data has been measured for better understanding its environmental
impacts and taking meaningful actions in the future.
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Air Emissions

Combustion of diesel oil from vehicles was the main culprit of
the Group’s emissions of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides
("NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and particulate matters (“"PM"),
etc. Due to the limitation in data collection for the distance travelled
by the vehicles, the Group's air emission was estimated by the unit
of diesel oil consumed by the vehicles?. The composition of its air
emissions was as below:

Nitrogen
Oxides (NOx)
=Kl

1,484.2
kg 52
Particulate

Matters (PM)
EE

117.7
kg F7

! The different intensity figures in the ESG report were calculated using
the total number of vehicles (including private car under the Group and
the private car not held by the Group but used on daily operations) and
monthly average number of employees, which were 16 (2020: 11) and
26.5 (2020: 23.75) respectively as at 31 March 2021. The total number of
vehicles and the relevant intensity figures of last year have been adjusted
to present a more comprehensive and accurate data.

2 By estimating the travelling distance based on the units of fuel consumed
by the vehicles, using the “Transport — Energy Utilization Index” issued by
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department at https://ecib.emsd.gov.

hk/index.php/hk/energy-utilisation-index-hk/transport-sector-hk.
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During the Reporting year, the total air emissions amounted to
approximately 1,604 kg (2020: 2,066 kg), with a decrease of 22%
compared with the previous year. Correspondingly, the air emission
intensity was 100 kg per vehicles (2019: 188 kg per vehicle),
with a total of 11 vehicles and 5 private cars operating under the
Group, showing a decrease of approximately 47% compared with
last year. The significant decrease in air emissions was mainly due
to the cross-border transportation service was seriously affected
and market demand for diesel oil from the logistics sector was
reduced under the impact of the COVID-19. On top of that, various
anti-epidemic measures were imposed and implemented by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
which led to the suspension of construction projects for preventing
infection and spread of COVID-19. As such, the market demand for
diesel oil for machineries on construction sites was affected due to
the COVID-19.

While the Group’s air emissions largely depends on market
demands, the Group will continue to record and evaluate its air
emission data while giving annual disclosure of the relevant data.
By this means, the Group keep a close eye on the effectiveness of
the Group’s measures and continue to invest in emission reduction
in the future.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions are the main contributors to
global warming. In an effort to reduce GHG emissions and carbon
footprint, the Group embraces green practices in its day-to-day
business operations, contributing to environmental conservation,
natural resource preservation and waste reduction.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded approximately 340
tonnes of GHG emissions (2020: 410 tonnes), with an decrease
of 17% compared with the previous year. The corresponding
GHG emission intensity amounted to approximately 21 tonnes
per vehicle (2020: 37 tonnes per vehicle), showing a reduction
of approximately 43% compared with last year. With the sales of
diesel being the principal business, the Group’s GHG emissions
were mainly attributed to the direct emissions from the combustion
of diesel used by vehicles delivering products to customers,
accounting for 90% of the total GHG emissions and direct
emissions due to petrol used by private cars on daily operation,
accounting for 8% of the total GHG emissions. Other emission
sources included indirect emissions due to electricity consumption,
paper waste disposed of at landfills, electricity used for processing
fresh water and sewage by the corresponding government
departments, as well as business air travels by employees,
accounting for the remaining 2% of the total GHG emissions. The
composition is illustrated as follows:

o
Total Emissions
e s
340 .

tonnes M§
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The Group's detailed greenhouse gas emissions breakdown in the
Reporting Year can be found in the table below. These data will
be used as a benchmark for comparison with future data, so that
informed decisions and meaningful actions can be taken by the

Group to reduce emissions in different categories in the future.

GHG Emission Sources

= RAEHRUR

Scope 1 - Direct emission from diesel and petrol

GHG produced
in 2019/20

(tonnes)

20194 /204
EXHNAERE
()

HE—— MRS

AEBNARS FEFM
AE IS TR - A FHIER SR FERRRBURLE
BRHEE UEFEERR B RIFENIBER KR
REVE BE&RVER LU D AR BB -

GHG produced
in 2020/21

(TED)

2020%F 2145
EENEERE
(i)

B E RS B A

% change

EBEAL

combustion (vehicles and private cars) HEMEENERIN
(B RMKE) 402.07 333.50 117.05%
Scope 2 - Indirect emissions from electricity #E " —FBIHEN
consumption? [SEE2E3E 6.63 5.75 1 13.24%
Scope 3 — Other indirect emission sources #E = - HEMEEEER
TR
~  Paper waste disposal at landfills —  NRIEREMN
SRR IR 0.72 0.42
—  Electricity used for processing fresh - RKERIEFTA
1 48.25%
water* C=WaN 0.01 0.01
- Electricity used for processing sewage® —  SKERIEFTA
B <0.01 0.01
—  Business air travel by employees - [EEEBHMZE
HE 0.13 -
Grand Total 8t 409.57 339.70 $17.10%
GHG Emission Intensity per vehicle and SHERRLREN
private car RERBHREE 37.23 21.23 1 42.98%
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GHG emissions from scope 1 has decrease by 17% compared with
the previous year. As aforementioned, the demand of diesel oil
from the logistics sector and machineries on construction sites were
seriously affected due to the impact of the COVID-19, the principal
business of the Group for delivering diesel oil products to customers
were also affected.

Besides, emissions from both scope 2 and scope 3 have also
decreased compared with last year, showing a reduction of
approximately 13% and 48% respectively.

As aforementioned in the “Air Emissions” section, while the
Group's direct GHG emissions from fuel combustion by mobile
sources largely depends on market demands, the Group will
continue to record and evaluate its air emission data while giving
annual disclosure of the relevant data. Besides, only certified energy
efficient products will be purchased as office equipment. Employees
are also highly encouraged to adopt natural lighting whenever
possible.

3 The carbon emission of China Light and Power (“CLP") was 0.57 kg
CO2e/kWh for the year 2020 as announced in their Sustainability Report
2020.

4 Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of fresh water treated
was taken as 0.596 kWh/m3, as latest announced by Hong Kong Water
Supplies Department in their 2019/20 Sustainability Report.

> Purchased electricity consumption per unit volume of sewage treated

was 0.29 kWh/unit, as latest announced by Hong Kong Drainage Services
Department in their 2019/20 Sustainability Report.
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On the other hand, the Group upholds the 3Rs principle, namely
reduce, reuse and recycle. We promote reduction in consumption
of electricity, water resources, paper and stationery. Employees
are reminded to adopt double-sided printing, while single-side-
printed paper is collected for reuse. A whiteboard is also adopted
in the meeting room, so that the Group’s employees can use it for
discussion instead of using paper.

The Group will continue to monitor and control its GHG emissions
in a bid to contribute to energy conservation and cut down its
carbon footprint.

Waste Management

The capacity of landfills and the availability of suitable land
for landfills have been continuously decreasing. Together with
the significant environmental impacts of waste disposal, waste
reduction has always been one of the Group’s objectives.

Hazardous Waste
As aforementioned, the Group’s core business involves the sales of

diesel oil. No hazardous waste such as chemical waste and clinical
waste was produced during the Reporting Year.

B—rEAEERFIRREPHHNE
R EEEA KRR (reduce, reuse and
recycle)c FMIEBE R/ VEREI - KER 4
RRXECREREERBE®mIIED RFKE
BmAENRRIEEEER TR BEEREH
M B AE BB RS Bl 62 B iR U ad a0
EREDEET

AEERFEEZERERBEIRY  LUE
BIAYBE TR BB B < B

BEYEE

HEEHERIEE N RBGHEN T MERE
WML M2 EERRYHIRIEEEATE M
LERYELE-—HEFEENBRZ—-
BEEEEY

g0 LRt REBBVZOER S RIFE SRR

AEERAREFETEELEEFELNESR
BEREYNBERERMNESERY -
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Non-hazardous Waste

The Group's non-hazardous waste was mainly composed of paper
waste. In the Reporting Year, the total paper waste produced
amounted to approximately 87.5 kg (2020: 150 kg), with a
corresponding non-hazardous waste intensity of 3 kg per employee
(2020: 6 kg per employee), considering the monthly average
number of employees being 26.5.

FEENEZEEEYTEAEER NARS
FE EENEREEA4987.5F 57 (20205 :
150F %) » ZREERFHREE A#AE26.5
N HEMBEEEEYEREASREEITRE
(2020F : 8% 1EE6TF ) ©

Paper waste (in kg)

B (F=)

160

120

80

40

2019/20%

2020/214F

@ Paper waste produced (kg)

EERRER(TR)

Logging is involved in paper production process, provoking
both direct and indirect negative impacts on the environment.
To advocate waste reduction within the Group's workplace, the
Group's has encouraged the Group’s employees to adopt double-
sided printing, with single-side-printed paper being collected for
reuse. With the Group’s continuous effort in waste reduction, the
Group has successfully reduced the Group’s paper waste and waste
intensity by 42% and 45% respectively. The Group will continue to
strive for reduction in paper consumption, so as to whittle down the
production of paper waste and its corresponding emissions.
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Use of Resources

The Group pledges to become an environmentally friendly and
sustainable enterprise. To reduce carbon emission and footprint, the
Group has implemented a range of carbon reduction measures in
the Group's daily operations, ranging from the adoption of energy—
saving equipment to the promotion of 3Rs principles among the
employees.

Energy Consumption

In the Reporting Year, the total energy consumption® amounted to
approximately 10,092 kWh (2020: 10,695 kWh), with electricity
being the only source of energy. The corresponding energy
consumption intensity, which is calculated by dividing the electricity
consumption by the monthly average number of employees,
was approximately 381 kWh per employee (2020: 450 kWh per
employee). Compared with the previous year, the Group’s energy
consumption and intensity have slightly reduced by 6% and 15%
respectively. The breakdown of our energy consumption by month

BiRER

REBFEM A —FRIRMRAIFERE BB
DHHFR R ED  FEBERBEEERE
T — Z R D B FE RS HE I > e R R BN BERR 18
HEAEENEERIREIRRA

BETFHFE

REAREFE > AEBEER
10,092 F BB (20204 : 10,695F F.BF) »

FENAM—EEHR ABEMNETRHER }*
(BEBERUSEFHEBAHGE) A1
F41EE381TEE (20204F | §41EE450T
R BN E—5 > KEBNEREERE
EEDRIEMB L 6%K15%  HFIH A R
HEEZEEBOT

HFERER i’]

is as below:
Electricity consumption by month
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On top of external factors, the Group has continued to invest in
energy conservation, such as purchasing certified energy efficient
products as office equipment. Employees are highly encouraged to
adopt natural lighting whenever possible. They are also reminded
to switch off idle electronic appliances and lights when they are not
in use, as well as before they leave the office. The Group will put
continuous effort in the aspect of energy conservation to further
minimize carbon footprint of the Group.

Water Consumption

The total water consumption’ 8 in the Reporting Year amounted
to approximately 35 m? (2020: 22 m?3). The corresponding water
consumption intensity, which is calculated by dividing the water
consumption by the monthly average number of employees, was
around 1 m? per employee (2020: 1 m? per employee).

FRINEBERIZR LS REBE BRI AE S EFER
N NMBEEERENEERFARAERE
URARNBZEBEIAENTHNER THRABEAR
B TMRREREERET NMERR REMRAZE
FIFAREEE FREBME N - FEEREHLE
HEFESHNE—SBER LD AE B
BB

IKHFE

RIFEFENNKCHEEE K535 5K
(20204F : 2237 753K) - HEBEMAHERE (U
NOHERUTFEESREEAHE) 2084
BE1L 5K (20204 - BREEIILHK) ©

Water Consumption (in m3)
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6 The monthly electricity consumption were not calculated by the exact
number of days, instead, the electricity usage data on the electricity bill
received in the month was taken as monthly electricity usage of that

month.

7 The monthly water consumption were not calculated by the exact number
of days. Instead, the water usage data was calculated by dividing the water
consumption data on the water bill roughly by the number of months

involved.

8 As the water bill from February 2021 to March 2021 were yet to be
obtained, the water consumption data in these months were estimated
based on the consumption in previous months of the financial year.

The total water consumption has slightly increased by 61%. This
could be mainly attributed to the malfunctioning of the restroom
facilities. The Group will monitor and check the facilities closely in
future so as to reduce the water consumption.

Effective use of water can significantly whittle down the indirect
consumption of electricity during water processing. The Group
encourages its employees to save and use less water by promoting
water conservation among its staff with the help of reminders
posted next to water taps.

The Group's water consumption is considered as immaterial as it is
not directly associated with its principal business. Nonetheless, the
Group is still committed to the conservation of water resources. The
Group will continue to monitor our use of water closely, so as to
minimise the corresponding carbon footprint.

Packaging Material
As the Group's core business involves the sales of diesel oil, we

did not find any significant usage of packaging materials in the
Reporting Year.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group believes that business development should not be
achieved at the expense of the environment. As such, the Group
has been implementing various environmentally friendly practices
in various aspects as mentioned above. More resources will be
invested in this aspect to further upgrade the Group’s equipment in
future and reduce its carbon footprint.

With the Group's dedicated effort in environmental protection,
the Group is pleased to report that no material non-compliance
issue regarding relevant laws and regulations was identified in
the Reporting Year. To keep up with this achievement, the Group
will continue to monitor its use of resources and strive to further
reduce our consumptions, in a bid to contribute to environmental
protection as an environmentally friendly and a sustainable
enterprise.

SECTION B: SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

Employment

Employees are fundamental to the Group’s success. All of the
Group’s employees’ contribution and dedication to the business
development are valued equally by the Group . The Group has put
continuous effort to provide a harmonious working environment
for its employees. In the meantime, the Group strive to grow with
its employees as it is mutually beneficial to both the employees and
its business development in the long run.
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Our Employees EMmES
As at 31 March 2021, the Group consisted of 27 employees (2020:  [22021%E3831H AEEBHE27%EE

24 employees). The composition of the Group’s employees is (20204 : 24%{BE) - AEERE AN
detailed below: MmN -

By Employment Type By Gender
wrERER Eog kel

0%

78%
100%
@ Full Time @ Part Time © Male @ Female
i Fehs S pegis
By Age Group By Years of Serving the Group
REERE R BRI A EE R
% 44%
19%

15%
18-25 26-35 @ 3645 @ 4655 @ 56-66 <1 1-3 3-5 5-10 >10

18-255%  26-35p%  36-45%%  46-55%% = 56-667% DIAME 1-3F 3-54F  5-10F ZMOF

@ Years of Serving the Group
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The Group consists of a diverse workforce of different age groups
and gender. The Group believes that a workforce with diversity and
inclusiveness is essential to a successful and sustainable business.
Meanwhile, around 44% (2020: 39%) of its employees have served
the Group for over 3 years, with 15% (2020: 13%) of them having
served for more than 10 years.

The Group strives for a harmonious and inclusive working
environment, so that the employees are free from harassment and
discrimination. Its employees are also recruited regardless of their
age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status, disability, race,
nationality, religion and/or sexual orientation.

Equal opportunities and diversity for all employees are highly valued
by the Group. Such employment opportunity policy is applicable to
the Group's staff recruitment, remuneration, as well as termination
and dismissal. Job applicants will be required to attend interviews,
during which applicants’ performance will be assessed together
with their academic qualifications and other references available.
Background search will also be conducted for recruitment of staff
in higher ranks.

The Group also maintains employees’ compensation insurance
for all of its employees as required under the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The Group
operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") schemes registered under the
relevant laws and regulations for our employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions to such schemes are based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not find any material
non-compliance regarding employment.
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Employee Benefits

Comprehensive remuneration package is provided to all of the
Group’s employees with reference to market practice and their
performance. On top of that, year-end bonus is awarded to staff
based on their contribution, as well as the Group's performance.
Special bonus may also be given to staff with outstanding
achievement. Moreover, the Group contributes to the MPF and
provides employees’ compensation insurance in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. Considering the needs
of employees in different job positions, different employees’
compensation insurance would be purchased for drivers and office
staff separately.

To enhance the performance and address the learning needs of the
Group's employees, annual staff assessment will be conducted. The
evaluating factors including team spirit, job responsibility, attitude,
punctuality, capability, quality of work and efficiency. Employees
with satisfactory results in the annual appraisal may be considered
for promotion, salary adjustment and bonus.

Work-life Balance of Employees

The Group understands that adequate rest is crucial to the
sustainability of its workforce, thus it has developed corresponding
internal policies to help its employees achieve work-life balance.
To accommodate the routines of different job positions, different
working hours are assigned to drivers and office staff. Drivers are
working on shifts, while office staff are working from Monday to
Saturday. The Group's employees are engaged in 50 to 60 hours of
work each week, with at least 1 rest day to ensure sufficient rest.
They can also adopt flexible lunch hour based on their needs.

On top of these, the Group’s employees are entitled to a range
of leaves, including annual leave, maternity leave, marriage leave,
family bereavement leave, as well as medical leave. To celebrate
festive holiday and recognise the contribution of its employees, the
Group also distributes gifts to its employees on special occasions
such as Mid- autumn Festival and Tuen Ng Festival.
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Talent Retention

With the adoption of an employee-oriented approach in our
internal policies, the Group successfully achieved an overall
retention rate at approximately 100% (2020: 100%) in the
Reporting Year. Meanwhile, the Group’s overall monthly turnover
rate was approximately 0% (2020: 1.9%), as there is no employee
left during the Reporting Year. The Group’s achievement in talent
retention could be attributed to the employee benefits and its effort
in building long-term relationships with its employees.

AFRE

BREARFANADBER P RAUEESF L
NFA*% AEBRAREFERINEIRFA100%
(2020£F : 100%) BIEERERE o BRF > R
REFENTRITAES R RMANEER
TR L 0% (20204 © 1.9%) e REEKA
FRE H E IR A R R & B K H M
FREESEIRIABERABAMMNE -

Employee Retention Rate by Age Group and Gender
RERENRMEFNETNEERER

004 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
0
80%
71%
60% 57%
40%
20%
0% 0%
18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 Male Female
18-255% 26-355% 36-458% 46-555% 56-655% B pegi:
® 2019204 @ 2020214

In case of resignation, the Group’s employees are required
to submit prior written notice 1 month in advance. They will
confirm their last payroll in written documents on their last day of
employment.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to safeguarding the safety, health and
welfare of all its employees. Not only does it aim to meet the
minimum occupational health and safety standards required by
law, but exceed them. To realise our commitment, the Group has
implemented a number of policies with regard to workplace safety.
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In accordance with “Dangerous Goods (General) Regulations
(Chapter 295B of the Laws of Hong Kong)”, all oil tank wagons
under the Group have obtained relevant license from the authority
to operate and transport diesel oil. They have been equipped
with fire equipment for potential hazards, while labels declaring
the presence of inflammable goods inside the vehicles have been
attached to the front or rear end of all vehicles. Vehicles are also
under regular checks and maintenance to ensure that they are in
good condition. Besides, the Group maintains a license register to
keep track of all the licenses and their respective expiry dates, so as
to arrange renewal of the licenses in a timely manner.

On top of these, all drivers are required to attend safety training
session organised by Sinopec before they are allowed to operate
oil tank wagons in the oil depots. Only authorised persons with
relevant license from Sinopec will be permitted in the oil depots.
Smoking is strictly prohibited at oil stations to prevent fire hazards.
Meanwhile, safety handbook has been established and distributed
to all the drivers responsible for delivering diesel oil. It outlines
the safety protocols for various hazards, such as car crash of
various severity, oil leakage and fire. Emergency contacts for
government bodies, hospitals, and garages for maintenance are
enclosed in the handbook as well. The Group has also equipped
its office and station with adequate fire equipment and first aid
tool box, with various signage posted around the workplace to
remind its employees of the importance of work safety. All these
measures help to create a safe working environment and protect its
employees from occupational hazards.
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In the meantime, the Group provides employee’ compensation
insurance to all its employees, which cover work injuries and other
medical needs. In case of work injury, the Group’s employees are
entitled to medical leave, so that they can have sufficient rest for
recovery.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no work injury
reported within the Group in the Reporting Year. As the Group
places its employee’ safety as top priority, it will continue to strive
for a safe and healthy work environment for its employees.

Moreover, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has issued a
notice and adopted safety measures to protect health of the staff.
Staff are required to measure temperature before entering the
office; sanitization and cleaning disinfectant is provided to staff for
cleaning the office area and staff are required to wear mask in the
office area. The Group is committed to create a healthy and safe
working environment for staff and to avoid staff from easily getting
infected by the severe COVID-19 pandemic during the Reporting
Year.

Development and Training

The Group encourages its employees to engage in continuous
learning, in order to equip themselves for future challenges. On—
the-job training is provided to all the newly recruited employees,
so that they can acquire all the necessary skills and knowledge for
their roles, as well as assimilating into the Group smoothly. Drivers
are required to attend safety training organised by Sinopec Group
before they are allowed to operate oil tank wagons in the oil
depots.

We have also set up standardised operation manual for the Group's
employees’ future reference.
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Due to the adverse effect of COVID-19 pandemic, in the Reporting
Year, 8 of the Group's employees have received a total of 16 hours
of training. The Group will continue to invest more resources
into its employees’ training and development after the COVID-19
pandemic, so that its staff can keep abreast of the market changes
and demands.

Labour Standards

The Group highly values human rights and it strictly complies with
all labour laws and regulations that prohibit child labour and forced
labour. During the course of our recruitment process, documents
authenticating the applicant’ identity and eligibility to work are
obtained and verified, so as to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. No person below the age of 18 will be hired
or forced to work at the Group. Any act of violence, with the
purpose of deliberately causing discomfort, threats and/or bodily
harm, as well as forcing employees to work, is strictly prohibited by
the Group. The Group’s employees are welcomed to report to the
management if they notice any potential violation, or if they are
experiencing forced labour. The management will investigate the
matter and take follow-up actions in serious manner, in a bid to
ensure that no employee is working against his/her will.

In the Reporting Year, there was no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations in relation to labour standards.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL — OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group believes that proper supply chain management could
bring positive impacts to the social environment in which it
operates, thus measures of quality assurance are in place to monitor
its supply chain closely. The Group maintains a list of approved
suppliers which have met its procurement requirements. Purchase
order will only be made with suppliers on the list, ensuring the
quality of the Group’s products and mitigating the risk of potential
disruption in the Group’s supply chain. Regular assessment will
also be conducted to the Group's suppliers so as to keep a close
eye on the standard of their products and services. New supplier
assessment will be conducted to the Group’s new suppliers in order
to ensure the quality of the products provided by the suppliers
and the quality of our products fits the Group’s procurement
requirements.

The Group suppliers are also encouraged to demonstrate corporate
social responsibilities by complying with the relevant codes and
business ethics with respect to business operations, marketing
activities, social contacts and environmental responsibilities. Any
form of bribery is also strictly prohibited by the Group, while
confidential information related to business activities, business
structure, financial status and financial performance etc. should
only be disclosed in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.

With a limited number of suppliers in the industry, the Group's
strict supplier selection process and strategic partnership with our
suppliers have given us competitive edge. In the Reporting Year, the
Group has engaged seven suppliers in Hong Kong, supplying diesel
oil and other materials. Long-term relationship with these suppliers
have also enabled stable supply of products at reasonable prices.
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Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to safeguards the interests and safety
of the general public. As its core business involves the sales and
transportation of diesel oil, the Group understands, the potential
hazards surrounding its business activities, and the Group
endeavors to mitigate risks to the best of its ability. Oil tank wagons
under the Group have obtained relevant license from the authority,
while safety hazard labels have been displayed on the vehicles. They
are also under regular checks and maintenance to ensure that they
are in good condition. Vehicles which have failed to pass the checks
will be strictly prohibited from operating. All its drivers are required
to attend mandatory induction training to familiarise themselves
with the operations of oil tank wagons and the safety protocols.
Meanwhile, safety handbook and Industrial Safety Policy is
distributed to all drivers for easy reference and handling of products
during delivery. The Group has continued to place much emphasis
on the importance of safe driving, strictly prohibiting speeding and
driving under the influence.

With its dedicated effort in upholding the safety standards,
the Group is pleased to report that there was no material non-
compliance with product responsibility in the Reporting Year.

Quality Control

The Group's diesel oil is sourced only from the list of approved
suppliers, all of which are authorised agents appointed by the Qil
Majors, so that consistent quality of its products can be ensured.
Diesel oil is transported directly from oil depots of our suppliers to
our customers’ premises, which contributes to smoother delivery
logistics.

The Group is pleased to report that we did not receive any
complaints or claims for compensation from its customers in the
Reporting Year. The Group will continue to implement strict supply
chain management to keep up with its achievement.
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Privacy

The Group has established an Internal Guideline on Inside
Information, outlining the regulations and importance of inside
information protection. The guideline has been circulated to all
its employees so that they can familiarise themselves with the
protocols. Employees are strictly prohibited from disclosing any
inside information of the Group both during and after employment,
irrespective of the circumstances of termination. In particular,
pricing of our diesel oil is highly confidential, and its employees
should refrain from activities that may potentially result in leakage
of the information at all times. Failure to comply with the guidelines
would be deemed as severe misconduct, in which the employee
concerned may be subjected to summary dismissal.

Anti-corruption

All forms of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited by the
Group. Employees should not offer, solicit or accept anything of
material value to or from their colleagues, customers, suppliers or
other business partner of the Group without permission from the
management. This applies to, but is not limited to, both monetary
and non-monetary gifts, loans, fee, reward, employment, contract
and service etc. Moreover, under no circumstances may a director
or employee offer benefits to any person or company for the
purpose of influencing the party in business dealings. Employees are
welcomed to report potential cases of misconduct through various
channels, while the management will take immediate action to

investigate the issue in a serious manner.

The Group is pleased to report that there was no concluded legal
case in any forms of fraud brought against us or its employees in the
Reporting Year. The Group will continue to adopt the zero-tolerance
approach and stay alert to potential misconduct of its employees.
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SECTION B: SOCIAL - COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group places much emphasis on community investment, and it
has continued to contribute back to the society in which it operates
in.

The Group has been making monthly donations to World Vision, a
charitable organization aiming to alleviate poverty among children
around the world, as well as promoting public education and raising
public awareness of global issues such as poverty, hunger, public
health and children’s rights. As at 31 March 2021, the Group's
donation to World Vision amounted to HKD2,640.

The Group will continue to invest more resources and engage
more employees in community investment, as well as devoting
its resources to areas other than poverty. By doing so, the Group
hopes to encourage our employees to serve and give back to the
community, while promoting corporate social responsibility and
bringing positive impacts to the society.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

With the aforementioned measures and its dedicated effort,
the Group is pleased to report that there was no material non-
compliance with laws and regulations that pose significant impacts
on the Group, including the areas of emissions, employment,
occupational health and safety, labour standards, product
responsibility and anti-corruption in the Reporting Year.
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

Emissions BEma 2020 2021
£, F20205%F H§F2021F
3B31HLEEE 38318LEFE

Total air emissions ARBEBAEE 2,066 1,604  kilogram
T
Nitrogen oxides (“NOx") Ek=Ket7)| 1,912 1,484  kilogram
(TNOx J) T
Sulphur oxides (“SOx") meEty 2 2 kilogram
(Fr'sox ) T
Particulate matter (“PM") P =R A 152 118  kilogram
("PM J) T
Air emission intensity KRB EE 188 100  kilogram/vehicle
T3, B
Total greenhouse gas emissions BERBAEGINE 410 340  tonnes
Mg
Scope 1 — Direct emissions (from mobile #3[E——B 1% 402 334 tonnes
combustion sources) BE CRER &) L
WR 1% R)
Scope 2 — Emissions from electricity HE - —FHFE 7 6  tonnes
consumption HIBERR g
Scope 3 Other indirect emissions #HE = —HMEE 1 <1 tonnes
B ME
Greenhouse gas emission intensity BERBHREE 37 21 tonnes/vehicle
ME, W
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Use of Resources

Total electricity consumption

Electricity consumption intensity

Total water consumption

Water consumption intensity

Paper Waste

Paper Waste Intensity

Year ended

31 March

EiRfER 2020
520205

3A31HLILLEE

B HEES 10,695
BITHERE 450
IOHFEREE 22
FBFEEE 1
AT 150
EREE 6

Year ended
31 March
2021
#E2021%F
3A3MHLEE
10,092  kWh
FRE
381  kWh/employee
FRE 1BE
35 m
K
1 m3/employee
IHAK/RE
88  kilogram
T
3 kilogram/
employee
Fr/1BE
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SOCIAL DATA g &
Year ended
31 March
Employment 2020
HZF2020F
3B31HLLEE
Total employment BB 24
Employment by employment type REBENEDNES
full time 2 88%
part time FI 12%
temporary BG B -
Employment by Gender ZERB DHES
Male B 83%
Female gl 17%
Employment by Age Group BERARZIDNES
18-25 18-255% -
26-35 26-355% 42%
36-45 36-455% 21%
46-55 46-555% 17%
56-65 56-655% 20%
Employment by years of serving the Group % AR 75 4s £ B B9 2P
EoMES
under 1 year DRE 20%
1 -3 years 1-34F 41 %
3 -5 years 3-5%F 13%
5—10 years 5-104F 13%
over 10 years 205 13%
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Year ended
31 March

2021
HE2021F
3A31HLELEE
27

100%

78%
22%

4%
26%
30%
19%
22%

11%
44%
19%
11%
15%
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Year ended
31 March
Employee Turnover Rate TR 2020
#E2020%F
3A31BLEE
Overall monthly turnover rate BERAMAX 2%
Monthly turnover rate by gender BMRBI DA RAR
Male B4 <1%
Female 2% 10%
Monthly turnover rate by age group HFER AR DY B A=
18-25 18-255% -
26-35 26-355% 2%
36-45 36-455% 3%
46-55 46-555% 2%
56-65 56-655% 1%

Year ended
31 March

2021
HF20215F
3A31HILLEE
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX RIFE-HEREBRSEIEIRETRGIR
Aspects ESG Indicators Description

[Em RIF-#HERERER fd

A. Environmental

A IRIE

A1. Emissions General Disclosure Policies and compliance with relevant laws and 47-54

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
A1 HERH) —ARiREE BRIBER R ERBEIN KRN B S 47-54
REEEEYNESSNBRKETHETARS
T ENERERRROINER -

KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. 47-49
RS EIEIRAT BE T 48 S A RA B BUE © 47-49
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and where 50-53

appropriate, intensity (e.g per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RASR IS IEIRAT.2 BERBAENRE UWsE) &k ER) BE WL 50-53
BESBE( -BERMHE) -

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where 53-54
appropriate, intensity (e.g per unit of production volume,
per facility).

RASRAE MIEIRA13 FREEBEREEYRE CUEETE) &k (NER) BE 53-54
WU BESEBA - §ERMH) °

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 54
where appropriate, intensity (e.g per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RS AE MIETRA1.4 FrELEEREEYME CUEETSE) k (EBER) BE 54
U BESBA - §ERME) °

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results 47-54
achieved.

RS A RMIEIRALS MR PE 2B A PRIS AR © 47-54
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Aspects

=]

A2. Use of Resources

A2. BR{FEHR

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

KPI'A1.6

RIS AEIEIZEA1 .6

General Disclosure

— BB
KPI'A2.1

RSB AE WIS IRA2.1

KPI'A2.2

RS A 51RA2.2
KPI A2.3

RS IE1RA2.3
KPI A2.4

RASRAE IS IRA2.4

Description

it

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results

achieved
WlEEEEENREBEEREEYN A L BIEEESHE
SR AES

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BMERER (BIEER K REMEMED BIBER

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.qg.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

REBBIDNEZER, SiEEER (B RI0H) 42
H#E UBTHTERRHE EBE WIUSEEE
i~ BIERMEH) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

MIEKERZE USEEEN BERMHE) °
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

I RETR 158 R X a5 B R RIS AR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives

and results achieved.

SR EVE B CR _E R B E R - LURIRFH A 7KL
met B R TSR

AR RAT 2020/2021 &3

53-54

53-54

55-57

55-57

55-56

55-56

56-57

56-57
55-57

55-57
56-57

56-57
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description
[Em RIB-HERERER #Hik
A3. The Environment General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on 58
and Natural the environment and natural resources.
Resources
A3 IRIFRRAER —MRIKE IR EIT AHIRRE R RARE RIS ERTZERER 58
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 58

environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.
BRI AR R IRA3 HEBEHHIRIERRAERNEATERER 58
IREIEFMEENTE
B. Social

B. 14 ®
B1. Employment General Disclosure Policies and compliance with laws and regulations 58-62
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
B1. (E{& —ARiREE BRI e Bl R EF  TIFR 8 (REA- T F 58-62
a2t RIE|SUREMFERENNEER K
BRG]
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group 59-60
and geographical region.
RASR AR A HE1EB1.1 R EREER  FHEN KRR E DR EER 59-60
2o
KPIB1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and 62
geographical region.

RS2 AE A F51RB 1.2 Bt FeAER Rt E B DREE MK R - 62
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Aspects

=]

B2. Health and
Safety

B2. BRE%E

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI B2.1
RN IE1EB2.1
KPI B2.2
RS AR 151RB2.2
KPIB2.3

RS AE R FE1RB2.3

B3. Development and General Disclosure

training

B3. & E R i3

—fRIREE

KPI'B3.1

A B2 4R A F5 1B 3.1

KPI B3.2

SR A FE1RB3.2

Description

it

Policies and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BRREHZ2THRRERREREEREHELRE
R KRBT E R R RA o

Fatality number and rate.

FET AR LB

Lost days due to work injury.

RIEERIIEE#H-

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted how they are implemented and monitored.
AP IR AN BB 2R 2 R Bl 2 2 48 T AR ABRAIT =
BRFE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRIEAEEEIT LIFR B # R SERIER -
MIESEE) o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management, etc.).

ZURREESER WEhEEE -FREEES 2
PHZIEEB DL

The average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category.

BRI REEERE D BRES MR TR
2o

62-64

62-64

64
64
64
64
63-64

63-64

64

64

N.A
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description

BE RIE-HEREBER it

B4. Labour standards General Disclosure Policies and compliance with laws and regulations 65

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
B4. % T #H| —RiR BRAPy L E T Ko tlss THBER RIET AR KRG 65
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices 65
to avoid child and forced labour.

AR AR A HE1EB4.1 R st B ES 1B A1) LURE S B T ke 58l 55 THYHE I 65
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices 65

when discovered.

RSB AE RIS 1RB4.2 R IR E R B ROE bR R B T EREXAY P BR o 65

B5. Supply chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of 66
management the supply chain.

B5. ftfE#E E1E —RAR I EE HERIRE AT ERBNEERR- 66

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 66

B S 4B XI5 1EB5. 1 a3 o HEREE - 66

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 66

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

% $2 4R AL F51%B5.2 R A RAEE B HERER > mHRNITHREMNBIH 66
BB  URBERENNRITRERS Ao
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Aspects

=]

B6. Product
responsibility

B6. EmEE

ESG Indicators
RIE-HEREREE

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI'B6.1

B SR AE W5 1RB6.1

KPI B6.2

RS A 151%B6.2
KPI B6.3

R4 151%B6.3
KPI B6.4

RN I51EB6.4
KPI B6.5

A SR 4E 2 H51%B6.5

Description

Faatt

Policies; and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to health and safety. Advertising, labeling

and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and method of redress.
BRIFFfEHERMNRBNRREZS - BE - REK
TR B MU R 7 AN BER RIB T AR AR Al o
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EENREXEREHPRZ L EREIEHMAR
KRB DL

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BERANEmMRBIRFEE URBH G E-
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

ot B A S Ko R PR RN 8 EE RE R RERVIB 4
Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

i E ST B2 K EmEIERF -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
HOH & E B RHRIE R AARECR » UL BRI IT &5
BH%e
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI -HERELGERS

Aspects

B

B7.Anti-corruption

B7. R &S

B8. Community
investment

BS. B E

ESG Indicators

RIE-HEREBER

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI'B7.1

B SR AR A5 1RB 7.1

KPIB7.2

R SEAE WIS 1RB7.2

General Disclosure

—fRIREE

KPI B8.1

i SR 4R 2 F51%B8. 1

KPI B8.2

B SR 4R A F51%B8.2

Description
it
Policies and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRI LEERRR ~ 131  lEF Aok BB BUER R IE T A
T35 0

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERARNHETANHESRETEEENES
TR RHNE B RFAER

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
WP EIE I R BT UREBRITRERS
VAo

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where we operate and to
ensure that our activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

BRIt eSERTHEIMESEMTHLRBEME
REMNER THFERLRAEAIER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).

EIEHMEE WHAS BESE S LIER BE-
&I ¥=))

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus

o

area.

TEIHRBFABARER WEBNER) -
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

The Board are pleased to present the annual report together with
the annual audited financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on
31 October 2017. The shares of the Company have been listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange by way of placing and public offer on
8 January 2019 (the “Share Offer"”). In connection with the listing
of the shares of the Company on GEM of the Stock Exchange, the
companies comprising the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”). Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries comprising the
Group on 29 November 2018. Further details of the Reorganisation
are set out in the section headed “History and Development,
Reorganisation and Group Structure” of the Prospectus.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activities
of the Group are the operation of the business of the sale and
transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 and the financial position of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to
128. The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2021 is set out
on page 200 of this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed under the section “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2018 (the “Prospectus”) and in the paragraph headed
"Comparison of implementation plans for business strategies with
actual implementation progress” below in this report, the Group
does not have any future plans for material investments or capital
assets as at the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR
JOINT VENTURES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group did not have
any significant investments, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company’s shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. A total of 100,000,000 new shares with
nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at
HK$0.60 per share for a total of approximately HK$60.0 million.
The Net Proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer,
after deduction of the underwriting commission and related
expenses in connection with the Share Offer, was approximately
HK$34.8 million. The Net Proceeds, upon receipt by the Company
after Listing, has been deposited at a bank and such Net Proceeds
will be applied in the manners consistent with the proposed
applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, the UOP Announcement and the
Supplemental Announcement.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK OVERDRAFT AND BORROWING

The banking facilities available to the Group was approximately
HK$5.0 million and approximately HK$1.3 million of the banking
facilities was utilised.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 126 and note
21 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company did not have any reserves
available for distribution as calculated in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2021 there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2021 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Chairman)
Mr. Li Isaiah (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fenn David
Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew
Mr. Ho Cheung Kong

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation at each AGM provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
AGM.
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Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent and meet
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 11 December 2018 for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
and shall continue thereafter unless terminated in accordance
with the terms therein. Under the terms of the service contract,
the service contract may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice served by either party on the other. The term
of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company and which may
be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by
either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is
subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors
as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have a service contract and/or a letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring
or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as applicable
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee by reference to the benchmarking of
the market. The Company also looks into individual Director’s
competence, duties, responsibilities, performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their responsibilities, workload, time devoted to the
Group and the performance of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 108 to 114 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended
31 March 2021 or at any time during the year ended 31 March
2021.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Company did not enter into or have
any management and/or administration contracts in respect of the
whole or any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any business and interest of the Directors nor
the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder(s)”) nor any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Group since the
Listing Date and up to the date of this report. The independent non-
executive Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in
relation to managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the
Group have been properly implemented.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 11 December 2018, Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort Group
Limited (“Fully Fort”), the Controlling Shareholders, entered
into a deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”)
in favour of the Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries),
pursuant to which each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort has
irrevocably and unconditionally, jointly and severally, warranted and
undertaken with the Company that, immediately upon the Share
Offer becoming unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall
procure each of his/its close associates (“Controlled Persons”) and
any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr. Law Ming Yik
and Fully Fort (except for the members the Group) (”Controlled
Company”) not to except through any member of our Group,
directly or indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other
or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as
principal or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement and whether for profit
or otherwise), carry on, engage in, invest or acquire or hold any
rights or be interested or otherwise involved in any business that
is similar to or in competition directly or indirectly with or is likely
to be in competition with any business currently and from time to
time engaged by the Group in Hong Kong and any other country
or jurisdiction to which the Group carries on business or grants
franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).
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Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort further undertake that when any
Controlled Persons and/or any Controlled Company is offered or
becomes aware of any new project or business opportunity (“New
Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to engage or become
interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall promptly notify
the Company of such New Business Opportunity in writing, refer
the same to the Company for consideration first and provide such
information as may be reasonably required by the Company to
make an informed assessment of such New Business Opportunity;
and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the Controlled Persons
or Controlled Company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity
is declined by the Company, or the Company does not proceed
with such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from
the date of the written notice (of if requested by the Company
in writing, such 30 business days period may be extended to a
maximum of 60 business days), and the principal terms of which
he/it and/or his/its close associates invest or participate in are no
more favourable than those made available to the Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders —
Non-Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus. Mr. Law Ming
Yik and Fully Fort have both confirmed to the Company of his/its
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition from the Listing
Date up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied by each of Mr. Law Ming Yik and Fully Fort and duly
enforced since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2021 there has been no
purchase, sale or redemption of any Company’s listed securities.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO")) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (ii) to be
entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (jii) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long position in the shares RGP EFE
Percentage of
issued share
Capacity/ Number of capital of
Name of Director Nature of Interest shares the Company
HEATEET
B 515w E iR EE B
Mr. Law Ming Yik Interest in a controlled corporation 251,110,000 62.78%
(Note 1) shares (L)
(Note 2)
mUERE RiEEE T W) 251,110,000 62.78%
&R (L)
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Notes:

(1) The Company is owned as to 62.78% by Fully Fort which is wholly owned
by Mr. Law Ming Yik, the Chairman and an executive Director. Under the
SFO, Mr. Law Ming Yik is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Fully Fort.

(2)  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial Shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2021, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had or were deemed to have interests in shares or
underlying shares of the Company which (i) were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules, or (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any member of the Group.

Mat -

() ERABHEEWEE62.78% MEEHTFEFHR
TESRLAEREEHE RESSMRPER
B BLELRERRABEEEEFRFEERDIVE

%5
m

Q) FHNLARZRALRERRONER -

Br EXFIIREEINN RARESAE BMEES
FEANBBRSTHAERARAT R ETAHE
REE (E&EBESH MHPE G SEXVEL B
P ERERGD REREPEREREE S M
EEBIEXVEE7 RSN BN G NN E) K
RN AERI AR (BIERESESREE
&G B BME S EES R AR R Bk
B) AN ARRABRED S RAEKRAE
352K BEFENESCMANERI KA LR
BEGEM EH#RBE5. 4618 E5.67E B S A
B R B R TR RE ER S A o

FERREEMALTRAQE REBEER
BB 7 ~ AERAAR (D R AR PRI E R

12202138318 BEEFARM > FI AL

EFHELATESTHABRIN HEAAHF
R n SUAERARR (0 A SRR S HER()RTIA
A B IRIEE 5 MG IR G 533617 R E BT
BENELM SiEEE S I G HRAIBEXVER
B2 K33 I SCR GEM _E T iR B F IR B8
AR Es > (i B SRR R I A R R B PR
BBERTEAEEEAMERATHNRERS
ERRBOEMERRAEB10%H U LEES
EEm

IR A RAR 2020/2021 4R 91



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ESERE

Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
R 1 #E&mNE FERNHEE FiRE DL
Fully Fort Group Limited Beneficial owner (Note 7) 251,110,000 shares 62.78%
(Long position)
EEEEBRRAF BmEAA (HaZ1) 251,110,0008% B 1% 62.78%
#r2)
Note: Bt -

1. The shares are held by Fully Fort, the equity interest of which is owned
as to 100% by Mr. Law Ming Yik. Mr. Law Ming Yik is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Fully Fort for the purpose of Part XV of
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors have
not been notified by any person who had interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the resolutions
in writing of all the Shareholders (the “Share Option Scheme”)
passed on 11 December 2018 (the “Adoption Date”). The Share
Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date. The terms of
the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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(a)

(b)

(o)

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant options to subscribe for the Company’s shares (the
“Options”) to any director, employee or officer, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Company or any of the subsidiaries
(the "Eligible Person”), as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group.

Participants

The basis of eligibility of any person to the grant of any Option
shall be determined by the Board from time to time on the
basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Grant of Options

The Board shall not offer the grant of Options to any
Eligible Persons after an inside information has come to the
Company'’s knowledge until the Company has announced the
information in accordance with the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules. In particular, during the period commencing
one month immediately preceding the earlier of (a) the date
of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the
Stock Exchange in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules)
for the approval of the Company’s results for any year, half-
year, quarter-year period or any other interim period (whether
or not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and (b) the
deadline for the Company to publish an announcement of
the results for any year, half-year or quarter-year period under
the GEM Listing Rules or any other interim period (whether or
not required under the GEM Listing Rules), and ending on the
date of the results announcement. The period during which
no Option may be granted will cover any period of delay in the

publication of a results announcement.

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Subject to paragraph (k) below, the total number of the
Company'’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted and to be granted to a participant under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including both
exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the the Company’s shares from
time to time in issue, and provided that if approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his
or her close associates (or his or her associates if the participant
is a connected person) abstaining from voting, the Company
may make a further grant of Options to such participant (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the total number of the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted
and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
schemes to such participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of the Further Grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the Company’s shares from time to time
in issue. In relation to the Further Grant, the Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders, which discloses, amongst
other, information from time to time as required by the GEM
Listing Rules, the number and the terms of the Options to
be granted. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the Option which is the subject of the Further Grant
shall be fixed before the relevant Shareholders” meeting and
the date of meeting of the Board for proposing the Further
Grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price.
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(d) Exercise Price

(e)

The exercise price for any shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the Options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant Options; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share on the date of the grant.

Maximum number of Shares

(i) The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all Options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit"”) unless approved by the
Shareholders pursuant to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme or other schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. On the basis of 400,000,000 shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be equivalent to 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
the shares in issue as at the Listing Date.

(d) 17EE

(e)
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed by the
Shareholders in general meeting provided always that to
the extent that the total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes under the
Scheme Mandate Limit so renewed must not exceed 10%
of the shares in issue as at the date of such Shareholders’
approval provided that Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms thereof) shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit
as renewed. In relation to the Shareholders’ approval
referred to in this paragraph (ii), the Company shall send
a circular to the Shareholders containing the information
from time to time as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the approval of Shareholders in general meeting, the
Company may also grant Options beyond the Scheme
Mandate Limit provided that Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to Eligible
Persons specifically identified by the our Company before
such Shareholders’ approval is sought. In relation to the
Shareholders” approval referred to in this paragraph (iii),
the Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders
containing such relevant information from time to time as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Options may be
granted by the Company if the maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes in
aggregate exceeds 30% of the Shares in issue from time
to time.
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(f)

(9)

No Option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since the Listing Date and up
to 31 March 2021 and thereafter up to the date of this annual
report. Accordingly, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the issued shares as at the date of this
annual report.

Time of exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the applicable
option period, provided that, amongst others, the period
within which the Option must be exercised shall not be
more than 10 years from the date on which that Option is
deemed to have been granted. The exercise of an Option may
be subject to the achievement of performance target and/
or any other conditions to be notified by the Board to each
participant, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine.

Rights are personal to grantee

An Option shall be personal to the participant and shall not
be assignable or transferable and no participant shall in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest whether legal or beneficial in favour of any third party
over or in relation to any Option. Any breach of the foregoing
by the participant shall entitle the Company to cancel any
Option or any part thereof granted to such Participant (to the
extent not already exercised) without incurring any liability on
the Company.

(f)

(9)
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(h) Minimum period for which an option must be held

(i)

()

98

before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must
be held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed
by the Board.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the
Option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must
be repaid

The Eligible Person shall remit HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant upon acceptance of the Option.
The Option shall be offered for acceptance for a period of
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

Period of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, after
which no further Options will be issued but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the Options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

The Board may impose such terms and conditions on the offer
of Option(s) either on a case-by-case basis or generally as are
not inconsistent with the Share Option Scheme, including but
not limited to the minimum period for which such an Option
must be held, if applicable.
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(k) MEF FETHAEBRIFERTAKS

(k) Granting of Options to a Director, chief executive or

substantial Shareholder or any of their respective
associates

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates,
must be approved by the Independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is a
proposed participant). If a grant of Options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any
of their respective associates will result in the total number
of the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Options granted and to be granted (including the Options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other
percentage as may from time to time specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the shares in issue, and (ii) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant
of Options must be approved by the Shareholders on a poll
in a general meeting. The participant, his or her associates
and all core connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting. The
Company will send a circular to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules. In
addition, Shareholders’ approval as described above will also
be required for any change in terms of the Options granted to
a participant who is a substantial Shareholder, an independent
non-executive Director or any of their respective associates.
The circular must contain the following:
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(i) details of the number and terms of the Options (including
the exercise price relating thereto) to be granted to each
Eligible Person, which must be fixed before the relevant
Shareholders’” meeting, and the date of Board meeting for
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the Exercise Price;

(i) a recommendation from the Company’s Independent
non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is a proposed participant) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting; and

(iii) all the information as required under the GEM Listing
Rules from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements for the granting
of Options to a Director or chief executive of the Company set
out in this paragraph do not apply where the Eligible Person
is only a proposed Director or proposed chief executive of the
Company.

Equity-Linked Agreement

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders
or the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from
the business operated by the Group which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's business during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.
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Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Giraffe Capital Limited (" Giraffe Capital”)
to be the compliance adviser. As advised by Giraffe Capital, neither
Giraffe Capital nor any of its directors or employees or close
associates had any interest in the share capital of the Company or
any member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe
for such securities, if any) or otherwise in relation to the Company
which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule
6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the
Company confirms that all of the Directors complied with such
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from those as disclosed in the paragraph under “Interests
and Short Positions of Directors and Chief Executive in the
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and
its Associated Corporation”, at no time during the year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any directors or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable to the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporation.
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Save as disclosed above and as provided in the Share Option
Scheme, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 and up
to the date of this report was the Company, any of its subsidiaries,
its associated companies or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group's largest and the five largest
customers accounted for 23.8% and 77.2% (2020: 31.6% and
80.4%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively. For the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's purchase from the largest
and the five largest suppliers accounted for 55.1% and 100.0%
(2020: 44.9% and 99.9%) of the total purchases of the Group,
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 did
the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the Group’s
major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
1. Master Supply Agreement

Pursuant to the supply framework agreement (the
“Agreement”) dated 11 December 2018 and made between
Wing Fung Co. ("Wing Fung”) and Wing Ko Petroleum
Chemistry (China-Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as
Wing Ko Petroleum Chemisty (China-Hong Kong) Limited
("Wing Ko")), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
the Group will supply diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid to
Wing Fung for a term commencing from the Listing Date
to 31 March 2021 in accordance with the terms of the
Agreement. Since Wing Fung is wholly owned by Ms. Law So
Lin, the aunt of Mr. Law Ming Yik, the Controlling Shareholder
and an executive Director, Wing Fung is a connected person
of the Company and the transactions contemplated under the
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for
the Group under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance
with the requirements in respect of the relevant continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The annual cap (“Annual Cap”) under the Agreement for the
three financial years ending 31 March 2019, 2020 and 2021
were HK$13.0 million per year. The sell price and terms have
been determined in accordance with the pricing policies and
guideline set out in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total sale of
diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid to Wing Fung by the Group
amounted to HK$13.0 million (2020: HK$10.0 million). The
continuing connected transactions were entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and on
normal commercial terms.
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Review by the independent non-executive Directors and
Auditors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
in respect of the Agreement, the transactions were carried out
during the year (1) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (2) on normal commercial or better terms; and
(3) according to the Agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders

as a whole.

The independent auditors of the Company have performed
procedures on the above continuing connected transactions of
the Company and issued a letter to the Board confirming that:

(1) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe the above continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Board;

(2) for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(3) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to

believe that the above continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the Annual Cap.
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The material related party transactions entered into by the
Group are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements to this report. Save as disclosed above, none of the
related party transactions constituted a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) that was required to be disclosed. All the
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
had complied with the disclosure requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board considers good corporate governance a key element in
managing the business and affairs of the Group. The management
of the Group periodically reviews and proposes amendments to
its corporate governance practices for compliance with the CG
Code. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the CG Code during the Report Period. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 42 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the
laws of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a directors’ liability
insurance was currently in place to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
Directors.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 27 employees in Hong Kong
(2020: 24 employees in Hong Kong). The remuneration package
the Group offered to our employees includes salary, bonuses and
other cash subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’
salaries based on each employee’s qualifications, position and
seniority. The Group has designed an annual review system to assess
the performance of our employees, which forms the basis of its
decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
material factors underlying its results and financial position can be
found in the management discussion and analysis set out on pages
7 to 21 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group strives to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental protection laws and methods to minimise the
adverse effects of its existing business activities on the environment.
Details of the environmental policies and performance are set out
in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 43 to 80 of this report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Thursday, 19 August
2021, while the notice and circular convening the AGM will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders in the form required
in the GEM Listing Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 16 August 2021 to 19 August 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to
ensure that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company'’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August 2021.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March
2021 has been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, who shell retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for
re-appointment.

By order of the Board
SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED

LAW Ming Yik
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Ming Yik (Z855%) (“"Mr. Law"), aged 33, is the
executive Director, Chairman, compliance officer, chairman of the
Nomination Committee, member of the Remuneration Committee
and the director of Wing Ko and Forever Treasure Holdings Limited,
being the Group's subsidiaries. He is responsible for overseeing
all aspects of the Group’s operations, strategic planning and
formulation of corporate policies. He was appointed as the Director
on 31 October 2017 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on 24 November 2017. Mr. Law is the cousin of Mr. Li
Isaiah, one of the executive Directors.

Mr. Law has over 13 years of experience in the sale and transport of
diesel oil and related products. Mr. Law joined Wing Ko in July 2006
and was appointed as the director of Wing Ko in March 2012. He
was responsible for overseeing Wing Ko's daily operation, including
but not limited to maintaining stable relationship with the Group’s
key customers and the Group’s key suppliers, which are mainly
authorised agent(s) appointed by the Oil Major(s), monitoring the
logistics of projects and managing its corporate accounting and
administrative matters. In 2012, the HKSAR Government started
implementing Euro V vehicle emission standards in phases with an
aim to reduce vehicle emission. Seeing the market potential for
products which would help lower the diesel exhaust emissions from
diesel engines, Mr. Law led the Group to expand the business into
the sale of diesel exhaust fluid as its ancillary product in April 2013.
The Directors believe that his insightful vision is instrumental to the
success of the Group.

Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Design majoring in interior
design from Raffles College of Design and Commerce in August
2009 and an Advanced Diploma in Interior Design in from Raffles
Design Institute in September 2009, in Shanghai, China.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Li Isaiah (=) (“Mr. Li”), aged 36, was appointed as
the Director and was redesignated as an executive Director on
24 November 2017. Mr. Isaiah Li is the cousin of Mr. Law, the
Controlling Shareholder and the executive Director.

Mr. Li joined the Group in September 2009 and is responsible
for the overall management of its business. He has more than
five years of experience in the area of business administration
and information technology (“IT"). Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Li worked as an IT support in the DBS Bank from July 2004
to December 2004. He had also been an IT support in the Audit
Commission (HKSAR) from January 2005 to June 2005. From
October 2005 to March 2006, he was also a training facilitator in
Bright Long Company, a company principally engaged in tutoring
primary school students. He had also been a sales representative
in Gennett International Limited, a company principally engaged
in sale of electronics, from April 2006 to September 2006. Mr. Li
worked as an IT & Administrative Officer in Million Travel Co., a
company principally engaged in management of carparks from
October 2006 to August 2009.

Mr. Li has obtained a Diploma in Computer Science in Chu Hai
College of Higher Education in July 2006.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fenn David GE721&) (“Mr. Fenn"), aged 40, was appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 11 December 2018.
Mr. Fenn is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Fenn obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Laws and the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong
in December 2002 and June 2003, respectively. He subsequently
obtained a master of laws degree in banking and finance from
University College London, University of London in the United
Kingdom in November 2006. He was admitted as a solicitor of the
High Court of Hong Kong in September 2005, and is currently a
member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fenn has over 12 years of experience in the legal profession.

Mr. Fenn has a number of governmental appointments and serves
on statutory appeal panels and professional bodies. He has been
a Civil Celebrant of Marriages in Hong Kong since 2015. He is
also a disciplinary panel member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2016 and a member
of the Appeal Panel (Housing) of the Transport and Housing
Bureau of Hong Kong since April 2017, respectively. He is also an
adjudicator of the Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong
since November 2013.

Mr. Fenn has been appointed as the independent non-executive
director of Stream Ideas Group Limited (stock code: 8401), a
company whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
since March 2018. Further, he was appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments
Limited (stock code: 1082), a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, in May 2018.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew (&3 12) (“Mr. Wong"), aged 33,
was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 11
December 2018. Mr. Wong is a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wong has over eight years of experience in corporate finance
and auditing. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business,
specialised in Accounting, Banking and Finance from Monash
University, Melbourne, Australia in September 2011. He is also
a member of the CPA Australia since January 2016, a member
of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants since
December 2016, and a member of Chartered Global Management
Accountant since December 2016.

Mr. Wong was an auditor in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from September 2011 to November 2013, an auditor in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from December 2013 to March 2017,
the assistant vice president in the investment banking division
of Zhongtai International Capital Limited from March 2017 to
December 2017 and the vice president in the investment banking
division of GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited from December 2017
to June 2019. He is currently the assistant vice president in the
corporate finance division of Ample Capital Limited. During his
employment with Zhongtai International Capital Limited, GF
Capital (Hong Kong) Limited and Ample Capital Limited. Mr.
Wong executed a wide variety of capital markets and corporate
finance transactions, including initial public offerings, mergers
and acquisitions, equity fund raisings, structured finance and
compliance advisory.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Mr. Ho Cheung Kong (fJ&;1)(“Mr. Ho"), aged 46, was
appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 11
December 2018. Mr. Ho is the chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ho became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in May 2003 and obtained a Bachelor’s degree
of Commerce in Accounting in Hong Kong Shue Yan University in
November 2008. Mr. Ho subsequently became a practicing member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May
2009. He also became a fellow member and certified tax advisor of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in July 2010.

Mr. Ho has over 20 years of experience in the accounting and audit
industry. In particular, he has experience in auditing several listed
companies in Hong Kong. From August 2000 to September 2009,
Mr. Ho was a manager of FTW & Partners CPA Ltd. Mr. Ho was
subsequently promoted in October 2009 and became a Principal
and Director of FTW & Partners CPA Ltd up to present.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Law Sung Fai (ZB518) (“"Mr. S.F. Law"), aged 48, is our
chief operating officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Group.

Mr. S.F. Law has joined the Group since July 2006. Mr. S.F. Law
has over 21 years of experience in the business of sale and
transportation of diesel oil. Prior to joining the Group from May
1999 to May 2006, Mr. S.F. Law was the manager of Centre
Transportation Co., a company principally engaging in the business
of transportation of diesel oil, and was responsible for managing,
repairing and maintaining its fleet of tank wagons and its business
operations.
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Ms. Mo Yan Ting (EE ) ("Ms. Mo"), aged 52, is the Group
chief financial officer and is responsible for the general financial
management of the Group. Ms. Mo has joined the Group since
October 2017.

Ms. Mo obtained a Diploma in Business from the Auckland
University of Technology in October 2000. She subsequently
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business in Accounting also
in Auckland University of Technology in April 2003. Ms. Mo
completed the graduate conversion course in accounting in the
Sydney University of Technology in December 2006. Since January
2007, she has been a member of the CPA Australia.

Ms. Mo has over 22 years of experience in the accounting industry,
especially with presence in Australia. From May 1997 to February
2003, she worked in Westpac Bank New Zealand in Auckland and
her last position was an accountant assistant. From April 2003
to June 2005, she was an accountant at Longway Industrial &
Development Pty Ltd in Sydney. She then worked as an accountant
in Western Union Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd in Sydney
from June 2005 to June 2007. Later, she moved her accounting
practice back to Hong Kong. From August 2007 to March 2013,
she was an accountant manager at Greatsino International (HK) Ltd.
From April 2013 to August 2017, she was an accountant manager
at O'Laughlin Corporation Ltd in Hong Kong.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Cheuk Wai G2{£) ("Mr. Leung”), aged 37, was
appointed as the company secretary of the Group on 24 November
2017.

Prior to his appointment with the Group, Mr. Leung has
accumulated over 12 years of experience in the accounting, audit,
tax and company secretary fields. In June 2007, he joined FTW &
Partners CPA Limited, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as an
accountant trainee. In August 2008, Mr. Leung served in Pearson
Fearn & Co., an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their senior
accountant. In August 2013, Mr. Leung joined AE Majoris CPA
& Co, an audit firm based in Hong Kong, as their audit principal
and was promoted to audit partner in March 2016 and AE
Majoris Advisory Limited, a firm principally engaged in provision
of corporate advisory services, and his last position was senior
manager. In July 2017, Mr. Leung joined Alchemist Corporate
Advisory Limited, a company engaged in provision of corporate
advisory services, and was appointed as the executive director.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
in Accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong in December
2007 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since May 2012.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Law is an executive Director and the compliance officer of the

Company. His biographical details and qualification are set out on
page 108 of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHENES

mazdars

To the members of
Sun Kong Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sun Kong
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

MazArs CPA LIMITED

R (FE) s A A
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Tel 7E#f: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {#H.: (852) 2810 0032
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Website #&1k: www.mazars.hk

HNRABERBMRATRKRR

(REAEHEAMEIT B R E)

BER

BMEESINENE123E1995NFBER
BRAT (B8 RENBAT MBIE5
B)) NEEMHRE LR EMBEREEER
2021331 MRS BRI REBEZH
LFENGEEERn R FEEaEEHRKN
mERERER URGEVHRRWE &
BEEEEStHRBE-

EMRA 2SRV BRRERBRESBI
BAg ((BEGMAE)) BHENES AR
HER (IERMBREED) EEMPSHK
T BHEER2021F3831HNM BRI KR
BEZALIFENUMBERREAIRERE LB
BREBATKINEEREZ ARE

BRBIEIREPRAT 20202021 & 115



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHENES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
FREEER

RARETEIE (®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANVESH M AR IERRBENSE

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade receivables

B G BIIBERRIEE R 1R (IFRRIIS BRTHR)) BB 1R

Refer to Notes 2, 14 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

BB G R B IR A 5E2 ~ 14K25

At 31 March 2021, the net carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$50,058,000
(2020: HK$55,071,000), which approximated 77%
(2020: 81%) of the Group's total assets. Loss allowance
for trade receivables was approximately HK$3,258,000
(2020: HK$1,263,000).

2021383 1H  BSRBREBERED FEN
50,058,000/ 75 (20204 : 55,071,000%7t) » HX
% BEEBEEMLENTI% (2020F :81%) - B5
FEUS SR IE HY 5 18 8 549 %33,258,00078 7T (20204F !
1,263,000 7T) °

Management assessed the provision for ECL of trade
receivables based on the historical default rate, and is
adjusted for forward-looking estimates, such as expected
significant changes in general economic environment
and the business operation of the Group.
EEEENELEOXRT G E S BBARIERNTEHRE
EBEBZEEG LA B hst NBREHEIIRIE
R BEEXFEENTRRAEAEE) (FHFAE-

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter due to the application of significant judgements
by the management over assessing the credit standing of
the Group’s customers and therefore the estimation of
ECL of trade receivables.

BAER LiEEmE MRS EE HREERE
Rt BEEREFERFNEARIKREILGEE SR
WRRIE 2 TRHR{E B A5 18RS R R E K H i o

> 4

Our key audit procedures included:

RN ESEHEFEE

e understanding, through enquiry with the
management, the established policies and
procedures on credit risk management of trade
receivables;

s HEBEEEMNTHBEZERRKNECGERREIE
ZREEBMERRER ;

il
\D]]A'
i

e assessing and evaluating the design of controls
with respect to the identification of receivables with
overdue or default payments; and

o PR 5T AE & TE M B 380 BA 30 HE R 1 RR AT FE LR
TERVIERIIEM 2 85t 5 &

e  assessing management’s judgement over the ECL
and creditworthiness of the customers by assessing
the available information, such as background
information of the customers, past settlement
records of the customers, concentration risk of
customers, the Group’s actual loss experience and
subsequent settlement of the trade receivables.

e BEMLUEEMNELR NERFEFRER-FR
BEEECR - FRNERAEE EEENE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2021 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law and
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 22 June 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Fung Shiu Hang

Practising Certificate number: P04793
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HMEERE B ER

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative and other operating
expenses

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Finance costs

(Loss) Profit before tax
Income tax credit (expenses)

(Loss) Profit and total
comprehensive (loss) income
for the year

(Loss) Earnings per share
Basic

Diluted

Wi 2

IHE R

E#

H A
TEREMEER

8 7 B WRIBERY R E R 1R

R E B2

BRIR AT (B51R) EF!
PSR (R

FE (B8 2 RE2E

(B518) W s AE 2R

sk (B8 B
B

Notes

Kzt

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FAET
240,112 351,113
(237,976) (338,464)
2,136 12,649
1,247 522
(9,406) (9,791)
(1,995) (1,263)
(204) (135)
(8,222) 1,982
719 (283)
(7,503) 1,699
HK cents HK cents
A AU
(1.88) 0.42
(1.88) 0.42
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBERRAR

At 31 March 2021 j$20214F3431H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$000 HK$000
KiaE FHET FEIT
Non-current assets ERIEE
Property, plant and equipment e ER =Y E k] 12 7,786 6,443
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, FiUtEBYIZE « Bk R= K&
plant and equipment =BT RE 1,250 2,270
Right-of-use assets ERESE 13 651 665
9,687 9,378
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables E S EWEIE 14 50,058 55,071
Other receivables =) A= 15 3,071 1,243
Tax recoverable BB - 1,527
Bank balances and cash IR1ITE R RIRE 16 2,056 626
55,185 58,467
Current liabilities Bt =K
Trade payables B 2RI 17 5,033 1,844
Other payables Hih N 7B 18 2,694 1,893
Bank overdrafts BITEX 16 1,270 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 13 418 414
9,415 4,151
Net current assets MEEERE 45,770 54,316
Total assets less current liabilities BEEABEBRESIEE 55,457 63,694
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities, net UF U = =N =P 19 - 719
Lease liabilities HEaE 13 299 314
299 1,033
NET ASSETS BEFE 55,158 62,661
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRAR

At 31 March 2021 J$20214F3431H

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 F#ET FAET

Capital and reserves BARRf#E
Share capital B& 4 20 4,000 4,000
Reserves EXi 51,158 58,661
TOTAL EQUITY AR 55,158 62,661

These consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 199 were  E X E123E199BMZ T BREREE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors onand EEEHERBET|E  THTIESHARE

signed on its behalf by =
LAW Ming Yik LI Isaiah
BRE FhE
Director Director
EFE =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEmEHR

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

Reserve
izl
Share Share Capital Accumulated
capital premium reserve profits Total Total
RE  ROEE BFHE  RiEd st st

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

(Note 20)  (Note 21(a)) ~ (Note 21(b))

az20)  (Wa2216)  (Ha21b)

At 1 April 2019 1201954810 4,000 44810 10 12,142 56,962 60,962
Profit and total comprehensive income FERNREENGRE

for the year - - - 1,699 1,699 1,699
At 31 March 2020 12020538310 4,000 44810 10 13,841 58,661 62,661
At 1 April 2020 12020647318 4000 44,810 10 13,881 58,661 62,661
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEBBRE

loss for the year - - - (7,503) (7,503) (7,503)

At 31 March 2021 1£2021%3H31H 4,000 44,810

-
o

6,338 51,158 55,158
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mMEBRHERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) Profit before tax
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Finance costs
Interest income
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Changes in working capital:

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Trade payables

Other payables

Cash generated from (used in)
operations

Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax received (paid)

Net cash generated from (used in)
operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Notes

Kzt

REES

PRIRAT (B518) im@F]
EREEENE

ME BB RRFEITE

ROE A

F B WA

8 5 B UGRIERY R E RS 18
EEESEF

8 5 EWRIE
HLA P& ULRRIE

B 5 B RIE

H A& TRIE

KERRS FrR) Re

BUAE
B E
B (B1) FfEiR

REEFPS FrA) R
FER

REEH

BEYX BMEKRRB

HEYE BB K P

1B Eh

1§18

Deposit paid for acquisition of property, FLULEEYIZE - BB K skt

plant and equipment

Fhfd#s

Net cash used in investing activities R E;EEFIRIRE FEE

> 4

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(8,222) 1,982
396 399
2,718 1,976
204 135

- (48)
1,995 1,263
3,018 (18,710)
(1,828) (212)
3,189 (5,174)
801 527
2,271 (17,862)
- 48

(172) (91)
1,527 (990)
3,626 (18,895)
(1,827) (3,388)
36 =
(1,250) (2,270)
(3,041) (5,658)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEHERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

Notes
g3
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment of lease liabilities EIRHEAR 22
Net cash used in financing activities R EZSIFTRIRE R
Net increase (decrease) in cash and RE RIS EBHIEM
cash equivalents GRiL) 258
Cash and cash equivalents at the REHEREER
beginning of the reporting period IRE&EZEY)
Cash and cash equivalents REARAERAEEE
at the end of the reporting o 15IRITHE R RIS
period, represented by bank
balances and cash
Analysis of the balances of RERFEEBEWRIEER
cash and cash equivalents bakiis
Bank balances and cash IRITHER R IRE
Bank overdrafts RITHEX
16
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(425) (380)
(425) (380)
160 (24,933)
626 25,559
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2,056 626
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786 626




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sun Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 31 October 2017 under the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business is situated at 20/F., Glassview Commercial Building,
No. 65 Castle Peak Road Yuen Long, Yuen Long, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Company together with its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
are principally engaged in sales of diesel oil and related
products in Hong Kong. The details of the subsidiaries are set
out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$ "), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

2.

130

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2020 consolidated financial statements, except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year.

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8

BEGHENE IR RE B ERFSRETE
Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB BREERFIRETEA

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8: Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition of material and align the

definition used across IFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Definition of a Business
The amendments, among others, revise the definition of a
business and include new guidance to evaluate whether an

acquired process is substantive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group in preparing the consolidated financial statements is set
out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated/combined from the date on which the Group
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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BLE20219F3531 HIEF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on which
they are available for use and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements 5 years/over the unexpired
term of lease, whichever is

shorter
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured at their
transaction price.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii)
equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group's business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
annual reporting period, where appropriate, following the
change in the business model.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are

recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade
and other receivables and bank balances and cash.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument'’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss

with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial instrument.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account in the assessment:

actual or expected significant adverse changes in external
credit rating of the debtors;

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligations;

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and/or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the
payment status of the debtors in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtors.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credlit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Low credit risk (Continued)

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

As detailed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, other receivables and bank balances and cash are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
net of bank overdrafts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is
sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products in Hong
Kong.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identify
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially

the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Identification of performance obligations (Continued)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;
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B F20219F3531 HILFZ

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as
legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.

Sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products are
recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains the
control of the promised asset, which generally coincides with
the time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.

Ancillary transportation service income is recognised over time
when services are rendered.
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2.

B F20219F3531 HIEFZ

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credited-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements is presented in the currency of HK$, which is also
the functional currency of the Company, and rounded to the
nearest thousands unless otherwise indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to determine
whether there is any indication that property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group
of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.
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2.

BLE20219F3531 HIEF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified

components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(©) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

2.

FEGHBR &

HE #@

1EBEBA
rERHEREERMEEEEHER

PR R 2SHEERNEE MR
BERZRTEERED R

REEHREESHANXEHEEHER
DEBARFA—BEE - AEEREE
EEMESONENBEBEBERESORE
DEEREREEMED -

rEBREEEBEME D ZBARIEA

WARE D ECE G X BB rl &8 5! 4B A BF
2Bz

AEBRREERBBRRIECHEEE

REE&E

ERREENDEMAETIGE K
BfE -

(a) HESBERBRFTEERER

(b) MEBBMNZAFMENERNEE

R BB EREEERE ;

(0 AEEEENEAVNGBEREAE; &
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2.

BLE20219F3531 HIEF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use asset for 2 years.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at
the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(0 amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;
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Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee,
the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other
than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the
Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(@) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When a
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where a
grant relates to an asset, the Group recognised in full as other
income to profit or loss in the year of grant if the amount
is immaterial instead of recognised as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset and released to profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments. The directors of the Group considered that
the effect of the recognised amount to profit or loss over the
expected useful life is immaterial.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of

non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021

FEGEHBR @
HE &
1EBAMEA (&

(d) FEHEEHREZHEEEIIMES &
EEEBR LV ERAREEZREE
RIEEERZEMAEAR MR
Bra2ERLEZBEERRER
BEMAEMEARoSEEALEZEE
HERE 2 W SRS 18 ©

@) FFAEEMEEEIIMS  A&EEE
BEERAREEEMFLARREE Yl
EaRETEMSE-

B #Bh

EECEREMPKEWNEFAENS
R E T > B A P ERESS BT
By 2B R IR B AR > HiEER
TR AMGEER B B E M E A8
HIHNEERNWA - HEBREERR
FEBERBEERENNED B HRES
AEMUA > HEEER K BIFER AR
BERBEERNR 118 FERFE DR
ERAMEEN TR R FHARE
Bm AEEEFEIN REPIEREF
HTERm PR TETE T K

BE®EF
(R ES 157

e FEEA BHFERRIFREEN
AT E SR MAARA RGN EE Rt o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021

2.

BLE20219F3531 HIEF/E

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior the contributions
are vested fully in those employees. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
is not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

B F20219F3531 HIEFZ

2. FEEHEER @A

A Bk 75

B S A RAERARABMIALTNERE-

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

2.

158

B F20219F3531 HILFZ

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(v)

(vii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is

a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a)

(b)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
Group's most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

2. FEGSHER @

RS (&)

0 ZBATHZBALTEBIEEHF
EHREAN

REBSHNEET  MEATCEXME
ABNWBAR MEEAREEZEE
NSIESZYNSTE

DEBER S

REMBRERANMEBHEEDH RE
DHBEENTE DHREEHAMEERS
EBERMIBABENE R K RRIRT
mMmRAAEEERSTHREEASREHERN
BB R MEEE

MMBHREMS > BRI ERNEE DB
SEHE B EREARUKEREREE
maRBEE-EEBREME FREL
SRR~ 2 8 E IR AR HY 5 A MUK
BEERFEMESEBLBY D EERS 1B 5
TEANEENMHAEBRBOZEFSR
o IR U aHET R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

160

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Depreciation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment on the
straight-line basis over the respective estimated useful lives
as set out above, with the depreciation charge commencing
from the date an item of the property, plant and equipment
is available for use. The estimated useful life reflects the
management'’s estimate of the periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group's
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are impaired when an indication of impairment exists.
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment, which is equal to the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating
the value in use requires the management to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the property, plant
and equipment and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any
impairment will be charged to profit or loss.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables by using various inputs and assumptions
including but not limited to risk of default. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group'’s historical information, existing market conditions as
well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

2.

162

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for current year, which the
Group has not early adopted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FEGHEXK @

Future changes in HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16

BAEGHEERE395% « BEARFIRELERB45%
BEEMBEREENETR BBV BEREENSE
OB BMBIRESERE16REFT A

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BHBUHBREERF165RETR

Amendments to HKAS 16

BAEGENE165ET A

Amendments to HKAS 37

BAGTERFEI7RESTA

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB BREERFIRETE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

BEMBREENNFEDICE

Amendments to HKAS 1

EEGHERNBIFRET R

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEHEGHENE1REITR

Amendments to HKAS 8

BAEGHERESFRET A

Amendments to HKAS 12

BAEGFENE125ETA

HKFRS 17

BEEMBRESERE175R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BERMBRESERFI10RXREEGHER]
SB285RIEFT &

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

ERMBRESENNREKES (@)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 7
FIRR RN E — R

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021 ?

20214868308 Z #Covid-1918FIMTE £ B H2

Proceeds before Intended Use ?

€ Ak Al RV PSR 187

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract #

BITEAB 2’

Reference to the Conceptual Framework ?

HEE SRR

2018-2020 Cycle ?

2018 F2020F B

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 4

BB EASIERIHAY

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BT R Y

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Bt ZER?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction ¢

B-RBELZEEKREBEBEZHRIRERE

Insurance Contracts

RS 4

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture ®

REZHRHBMEARNGEARZHZEELENEE’

FR202146 15 1 H 302 12 F48 19 5 Z R T £ 54

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 2 FR20214E4/5 1 H 30 2 & BF45 B9 FE FE BT £ 54
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 3 R20224F1 81 HBL 2 2 BIA B F E AR £ 3K
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 4 JR2023%F 151 HEL 2 12 BIA B F ERE T £ 5K

5 The effective date to be determined

S EMABFE

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/ BEFER PAREHAB RN &1ET
revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material impact EARAMBREEANHAEBXEEFTE
on the results of the Group. ERIEAFTE-

> 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

3.

164

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group
has only one operating and reportable segment throughout
the year, as the Group manages its business as a whole which
is the sales of diesel oil, steam coal and related products in
Hong Kong. The sales of diesel oil and related products services
include sourcing diesel oil and diesel exhaust fluid through oil
trading companies, dispatching the fleet of diesel tank wagons
of the Group to collect diesel oil from oil depots designated
by the suppliers of the Group, and eventually delivering diesel
oil to destinations designated by the customers of the Group.
The sales of steam coal service include sourcing steam coal
and arrange the delivery service. The executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision-makers of
the Group, regularly review the internal financial reports on
the same basis for the purposes of allocating resources and
assessing performance of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong Kong. All of
the Group's revenue from external customers during the year
is derived from Hong Kong and all of the Group's assets and
liabilities are located in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers individually contributing 10% or
more of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended

31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021
Customer A
Customer B
Customer C

Customer D

Year ended 31 March 2020
Customer A
Customer D
Customer E

3. OMEN @

FREEERHNEN

BT

#XE2021F3831HLLEE
EEA
=FB
FAC
ZFD

# 5202038310 ILFE
ZEA
ZFED
ZBE

BEEZE2021FE &202063831HIEFE
EpEAEBRBRFEI0%I U EHES

HK$°000
FAET

57,158
47,360
31,311
28,162

163,991

HK$ 000
TET

111,082
89,042
38,235

238,359
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021

4,

166

REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15

Recognised at a point in time
Sales of diesel oil
Sales of diesel exhaust fluid

Sales of steam coal

Recognised over time

Ancillary transportation service

All the revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS

15 arises in Hong Kong.

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

4. W=
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$000
F#ET FET
ERMBIREENFISHE
P&
A E B B R Bh s
LeomiEH E A 239,371 348,326
ERRRIHERE 460 586
I IEIHE R - 2,033
239,831 350,945
P BF R R BT
FeE B 8 AR TS 281 168
240,112 351,113

W HREBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

5. OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income RITHI S WA
Government grants (Note) BB (BYat)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has received
funding support from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to enterprises
to retain their employees who would otherwise be made redundant.
Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required not to make
redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding
on paying wages to the employees.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has received
government’s incentive subsidies in relation to replacement of
motor vehicles with environmentally friendly engines under the
ex-gratia payment scheme in Hong Kong.

5. HtlgA
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
- 48
1,247 474
1,247 522

Mzt PREE2021F3831HIEFE REERE
BREBNRINPEREEESTE N ZR/H
FHBNESIF -AMESZSEMRFER
BB R LR B R E R SE S HEEH R E
B RIFFE IR ZEEA BN AE M
BEKREREZEMARAEESXNIE-

REE2020F3831HILFE > AEER
BEANEEEYAEREEREBEIR
R3IEBREMERFAIEAT SRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

6.

168

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

Finance costs

Interest on bank overdrafts
Interest on lease liabilities

Staff costs
(including directors’ emoluments)
Salaries and other benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
schemes

Other items
Auditor’s remuneration
Cost of inventories (Note)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment:
Cost of sales
Administrative and other
operating expenses
Depreciation of right-of-use assets:
Administrative and other
operating expenses

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

6. FRIAAD (B51R) #@F)

BB TS AR H0 5 -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
=%
RITHELFE 172 91
HEasEFE 32 44
204 135
BT s
(BIEEEME)
e R EMER] 7,009 6,305
REMBTEEI ZHFR
296 274
7,305 6,579
EHihiag
12 2 B & BN 480 480
FERA (BaE) 231,017 333,635
MR R EBITE
THE K 2,422 1,614
THREMEESRE
296 362
FREESERTES !
THREMK SRS
396 399

Note: Cost of sales included approximately HK$6,960,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$4,829,000), which
relating to the aggregate amount of certain staff costs, depreciation,

license fee, repair and maintenance and transportation expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

7. TAXATION 7. R\
For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's B E2021F K%2020FE3831HIEEE R
entities established in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin MERENEBRERHE ((HBELH
Islands (“BVI”) are exempted from income tax. B I KERERERREBNITE
o
For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, Hong Kong BE2021F %2020F3831HIEFE > H
Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss REEENRERFEELERIERIE KL
for taxation purposes. WETIEE AN ERERE-
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$°000 HK$000
FAET FAET
Current tax BNHATR1IE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENFR
Current year KFEE - -
Over provision in prior year BEFEEBREEE - (20)
- (20)
Deferred tax IRIEFRIE
Reversal or origination of temporary Rt EBRNELD RES
difference (Note 19) (Ht5£19) (719) 303
Income tax (credit) expenses T8t (&%) XX (719) 283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

7.

170

TAXATION (Continued)

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

Reconciliation of income tax (credit) expenses

(Loss) Profit before tax

Income tax at applicable tax rate
Non-deductible expenses

Tax exempt revenue

Unrecognised tax losses
Unrecognised temporary difference

Over provision in prior year

Income tax (credit) expenses for the year

BRIRAT (B518) iEF)

RBERARKS BERIFTER
ARIHIBRBYR X
iU
NEESRIR AR 18
NHERDE By 14 = 2R
BEFEBRER

FRFFFM (E%R) FZ
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FRiSH (I8 %) A B9HER

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(8,222) 1,982
(1,356) 327
67 68

(206) (92)
447 =

329 =

- (20)

(719) 283




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8.

REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received and
receivable by the directors and chief executive of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2021 and

2020 are set out below.

Year ended 31 March 2021

Executive directors HWTES

Mr. Law Ming Yik BAERE

Mr. Li Isaiah ElRHELE

Independent non-executive BUFRTES
directors

Mr. Fenn David SBERELE

Mr. Ho Cheung Kong fARI%E

Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew BRELSE

EF RETHRABRESHFMH

() EFR&EEITHASHHMN

B E2021F%2020%3831H 1L
B AABEERESTHRAEEW

R RS 4R 2R S F1 90 T o

B E2021F3531HIEFE

Contributions

to defined
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary contribution
fees  allowances bonus plans Total
REMR
EElE HEREH BETEL  EEIZER st
HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000
FAET FAT FAT FAT FHT
- 650 - 18 668
- 583 - 18 601
86 - - 4 90
86 - - 4 90
86 - - 4 90
258 1,233 - 48 1,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

172

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

Executive directors
Mr. Law Ming Yik
Mr. Li Isaiah

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Fenn David

Mr. Ho Cheung Kong

Mr. Wong Ka Chun Matthew

HITESE
R
RO ST A

BIFERITES
SERRRE

ARI%TE
BERERE

(#)

8. EF RETHABRESNFMN

(a) EERRBITHRASNHM @)

B E2020F3831HLEFE
Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salariesand  Discretionary  contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
REMR
EXe HekEd WETEA Bz A5t
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FHm FHT FHT B FEm
= 650 = 18 668
- 520 - 18 538
72 - - 5 77
72 = = 5 77
72 - - 5 77
216 1,170 - 51 1,437

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments

were paid by the Group to any of these directors as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or

as a compensation for loss of office. There was no

arrangement under which a director waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration for the year ended 31 March

2021 (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

8. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ 8. EXE R S1THAEKRESMFHM
REMUNERATION (Continued) #)
(b) Employees’ remuneration

(b) {EERIHEN

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

B E2021F%2020%3831H 1L
B EZEeiHmMA TSI T

Number of individuals

AE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Director == 2 2
Non-director JEE=E 3
5 5

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid
non-director individuals are as follows:

L EEHMIFES A B HB T

BT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET

Salaries and allowances and e R REYA &
benefits in kind 1,509 1,371

Contributions to defined REMNGTE 2 =0

contribution plans 54 54
1,563 1,425
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

8. DIRECTORS'’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Employees’ remuneration (Continued)

The number of these non-director individuals whose
emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is
as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0008 7T

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no remuneration
was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid non-
director individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of
office. There was no arrangement under which any of
these highest paid non-director individuals waived or has
agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2021 (2020: Nil).

9. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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8. EF RETHABRESNFMN

(#)

(b) EERFHM &)

MEBRUTHELEENZSIEESFA
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2021 2020
20214 20204
3 3

HE2021F3831HIEFE  ZEE ] =®
BEAZEREFMIEESALTZGTE
A (EANMAREBRRPMAXER
BRI EABRTME FHE20215F3
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BT A ITHEARAERETAMSNZH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

10. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share is based
on the following data:

(B518) &7

(Loss) Earnings

(Loss) Profit for the purpose of calculating st EEKRE A (5518) BFH

(E5348)

basic (loss) earnings per share

Number of shares K& B

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares, for the purpose of calculating
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per

share

Diluted (loss) earnings per share is the same as basic (loss)
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

SAESRESKETE (518
B SR N T 9H

10. ik (518) BF

BREX (BB B HERUTHEHE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(7,503) 1,699
400,000,000 400,000,000

BN EE2021FE %202063831HIEEE
BEEE TN B E S @R ER
% (518 B BSRER (F518) BFE

g
~t

ERBIEIRAPRAT 20202021 % 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

11. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are

as follows:

Name of subsidiary

MEAB%ME

Directly held by the Company
FREEERER

Forever Treasure Holdings Limited

KEAZRERAT)

Winner Group Worldwide Limited

Winner Group Worldwide Limited

Ever Star Industrial Limited

Ever Star Industrial Limited

Indirectly held by the Company

ERBMERE

Wing Ko Petroleum Chemistry
(China-Hong Kong) Limited

XEEBEL (B8 BRAR

Joyous Treasure Group Limited

Joyous Treasure Group Limited

Wing Ho International
Development Limited

Wing Ho International

Development Limited

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
SR,

Bl 323t 2h

BVI

RERIEHS
BVI

EBEURS
BVI

REEUHE

Hong Kong

BE
Hong Kong
A

Hong Kong

BB

Date of

incorporation/

establishment

s,
B3z B HA

14 November 2017

20174118148
8 April 2019

20195F488H
3 June 2019

201946 H3H

18 December 2002

2002F12H18H
10 April 2019
2019544108

4 June 2019

20194654H
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11. B AT

RIS HARZ M B A F]

Particulars of
paid up capital/
registered capital
BRRE/
HEMEARFERE

United States

Dollar (“US$")10
10%7t (F%=730)
us$10

10578
Us$10

10%7T

HK$10,000

10,0007 7T
HK$100
1007 7T

HK$100

100787

Attributable
equity interest
held by the
Company
EREEEW
FE1L AR 1

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

FIBEEIIMT -

Principal activities/
place of operation
TEER
SEME

Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /&8
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /B
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REER, /&8

Sales of diesel oil and
related products/

Hong Kong

SO R B R E A SE &
SEE

Inactive

&R

Inactive

TEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ME - -BERHEE
Leasehold Furniture and Office Motor
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles Total
HERE HRREE MWARE RE st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000

THET THET TH7m T TH7T

Reconciliation of carrying amount -  EREI{EHIEER — & F2020%F3

year ended 31 March 2020 B31BLEE
At the beginning of the reporting period 13R & H5#] 177 68 61 2,685 2,991
Additions NE - - - 5,428 5,428
Depreciation nE (53) (20) (24) (1,879) (1,976)
At 31 March 2020 1£202043831H 124 43 37 6,234 6,443

Reconciliation of carrying amount - BREIERIH IR —# 202153

year ended 31 March 2021 A31BLEE

At the beginning of the reporting period 73R 3 #]) 124 48 37 6,234 6,443
Additions hE - - " 4,086 4,097
Disposal HE - - - (36) (36)
Depreciation nE (50) (17) (19) (2,632) (2,718)
At 31 March 2021 12021538318 74 31 29 7,652 7,786

At 31 March 2020 12020538310
Cost [DE 272 193 333 16,160 16,958
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (148) (145) (296) (9,926) (10,515)
124 48 37 6,234 6,443

At 31 March 2021 1$202153H31H
Cost D% 272 193 344 19,708 20,517
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (198) (162) (315) (12,056) (12,731)
74 31 29 7,652 7,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 13. FRAREEREEARE

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
within HKFRS 16 during the years ended 31 March 2021 and

2020 are set out below:

REE2021F K20205F38318 IEFE »
EAMBREENFI16EANERES

Right-of- Lease
use assets liabilities
ERAEEE HEaRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Reconciliation of carrying amount — IREENHIR—8E2020F

year ended 31 March 2020 3A3THLEERE
At beginning of the reporting period — ¥R E AV — KW E BT

upon adoption of HKFRS 16 HEERFE1655E 1,064 (1,064)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERHEEERE (399) =
Imputed interest expenses on HMEaBEzHEMNEMZ

lease liabilities - (44)
Lease payments MEMR - 380
At end of the reporting period REREHAR 665 (728)
Reconciliation of carrying amount — IREENHER-8E2021F

year ended 31 March 2021 3B31HILEFE
At beginning of the reporting period RERSHAHD 665 (728)
Lease modification HEEsT 382 (382)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESERE (396) -
Imputed interest expenses on HEaBZHEFNERAX

lease liabilities - (32)
Lease payments MEMR - 425
At end of the reporting period IR EEAR 651 (717)
At 31 March 2020 1202038318
Current portion BEAER = (41
Non-current portion JEBDHRES 7 665 (31

665 (728)
At 31 March 2021 122021538318
Current portion BPERER - (418)
Non-current portion JERNERER > 651 (299)
651 (717)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

The Group leases office premise for its daily operations with
fixed lease payment term. Lease term is two years, with an
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated.

The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year:

Lease payments on lease liabilities HMEaRENMEENR

Total cash outflow for leases HERES R 48%8

Extension and termination options

The lease contract of office premise contains an extension and
termination option. These options aim to provide flexibility to
the Group in managing the leased asset. The extension option
is normally exercised because there are significant leasehold
improvements while the termination option is normally not
exercised. The Group seldom exercises options that were not
included in the lease liabilities. During the year ended 31
March 2021, total optional lease payments made amounted to
approximately HK$445,000.

13. FREEERBESE @

FEEBBBEEEUBEERENREE
EMRGP-HEHRAME  FIERZER
EMEEMAA RS EEEA -

FR AEE BRI TRUIAR !

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
425 380
425 380
HEHA R 4% 1E BEIE 4

MAGFNEEENE SR REIEE
B -ZSEEESEALEREHRET
MWEEEEEEAN A REXREEE
& SEHARZRBE WITE > MARILEE
RABERWITE  AEERDITERET
AHEEEREER & F2021F3A31
HLEFE BN ERENREENR
445,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

13.

14.

180

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Restrictions or covenants

The lease imposes a restriction that, unless approval is
obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be
used by the Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying asset. The Group is also required
to keep the property in a good state of repair and return the
property in its original condition at the end of the lease.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has no commitment
to lease contracts in relation to leased properties that have not
yet commenced.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has no commitment
to short-term leases or low-value asset leases.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no lease
contract contains variable lease payment terms.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 W EIE
From third parties REE=A

R

Less: Loss allowance

All the trade receivables are expected to be recovered within
one year.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss
allowance for trade receivables is included in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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13.

EREEEREEERE @

PRl 2% 255

B E —IBFRF  BIARA A AH#LE
EREEEEJAAERMER  BXER
NS HE IR FEREE - AEETRAR
RRYERR RIFHEEARS > W HG
RERDEMEERFTAREE -

R2021F %2020%3831H » A& FH I i
e AR INEEYEEHEE G4 X
o

R2021F 20203831 H » A& FH I i
FHFREgREBEEERE&AIE-

HE2021F K%2020FE3831HIEEE » #f

BHESH8A B E IR
. BREIRIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$000

FET TET

53,316 56,334
(3,258) (1,263)
50,058 55,071

TREAFRA B Z B WRRIER I —FRRE

B AEEREENEERNKRE 5 EW
NEFEREENEN SN GaMBERE
fF5E25 0



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

15. OTHER RECEIVABLES 15. HthFEUWFRIE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Deposits & 799 799
Prepayments AR 2,235 421
Other receivable HhpE U FI8 37 23
3,071 1,243
All the other receivables are expected to be recovered JEHAFF B EMEWR R IEFE I —FE RN W
within one year, except for the deposits of approximately [O] > ML 49171,00058 70 (20204 @ 49

HK$171,000 (2020: approximately HK$671,000). 671,000 7T) BRIk

16. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK 16. IRITHEBRRIAEURIRITES
OVERDRAFTS

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Bank balances and cash RITHEEGRNRIRE 2,056 626
Bank overdrafts BITHEX (1,270) =

As stated in the consolidated statement 4 &IRESHRERFTE

of cash flows 786 626
Bank overdrafts bear interest at prevailing market rate of Hong RITEZREBERTRAERENRTE
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 4% per annum (2020:nil). BFIEMNEFNZKA4%E B (202045 © #) o

BRI ARAT 20202021 R 181




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

17. TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables
To third parties

B 5 ERIE
BAE=

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days

18. OTHER PAYABLES

Accruals and other payables

Deposits received
Due to a director (Note)

30K
31E60K

FEstE R R HMEN

I8
BiRE
BNES (W)

Note: Amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.
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17. BSELIA

2021
20214
HK$°000
FAET

5,033

2020
20204
HK$'000
FAET

1,844

REBSHR REZHMETINEZEN

TIBREREE DT -
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
5,033 1,838
- 6
5,033 1,844

18. HithfE{I=k1a

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
2,378 1,800
316 21
_ 72
2,694 1,893

Mt BN —REFRERERIT  RERARE

RIEHE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19. IRFEMIA
The movement for the year in the Group's deferred tax AEFRERESENFAESHUWT !

liabilities was as follows:

2021 2020

20215 2020€

HK$°000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

At the beginning of the year REH) 719 416
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (Note 7) W 18# (5t A) 0B (#a27) (719) 303
At the end of reporting period REREHAR - 719
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 & Z202143/531H IFFZ

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) RIEFRIA (&)

Recognised deferred tax assets (liabilities) at the end of the RREPREEDNELEREBEEE (88

reporting period represent the following: 25T -

Assets Liabilities
B5E af&

2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20205 20215 20204
HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Depreciation allowance MEREE - - (872) (749)
Tax losses RIEET 18 872 30 - -~
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) IEERIBE E (AB) 872 30 (872) (749)
Offsetting A (872) (30) 872 30
Net deferred tax liabilities RIERRIBREFE8 - - - (719)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused RIREHFR > AEBRSHARIEBERE

184

tax losses and unrealised provision on impairment loss on
trade receivables of approximately HK$8,002,000 and
HK$1,993,000 respectively (2020: approximately HK$184,000
and HKS$Nil respectively). Deferred tax assets has been
recognised in respect of unused tax losses of approximately
HK$5,285,000 (2020: approximately HK$184,000). No
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of
the remaining unused tax losses and unrealised provision
on impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately
HK$2,717,000 and HK$1,993,000 respectively due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation.
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SEWRIERBERERSIREE DN
8,002,0007 7T 5 1,993,00078 7T (20204 :
D RI#184,0008B T EATT) cEMEKH
FATR TEE518495,285,0005 7T (20204 © 49
184,000/8 7t) HERIEEIRIBE & c HI' K
e M 2R B9 A BT FERI M 0 S SRR BUAY
#2,717,0007 75 K2 1,993,000 7T AY Tl i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

20. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020,
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021

Issued and fully paid:
Ordlinary shares of HK$0.01 each

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020,
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021

21. RESERVES

21(a) Share premium

20. g7

ARE
IR EE0.01 BT HI BB
1R20195F481H
202038318~
202048 1H*%
202143A31H

ERITRERE -
Z/REE0.01BTH B ER
1R2019F4818
2020%F38318
2020F481H %
202143H831H

No. of shares HK$000
Rin g = FHET

3,000,000,000 30,000

400,000,000 4,000

21. B

21(a) AR 17 5B

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par
value. Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Company'’s Articles of Association, it is distributable to
the Company’s shareholders provided that the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

21(b) Capital reserve

It represents the amount of the issued and paid-up share
capital of the entities now comprising the Group before
completion of the Group’s reorganisation to rationalise
the group structure for the listing of the Company less
consideration paid to acquire the relevant interests (if any)
upon completion of the reorganisation.

> 4

RO BEIEARTETRHOBMG
TIRF B L EmENE D - RERH
EBERVI R ABEMERRZMA
HEARRBEXBBRETHAE

BN EIHNES AR EER 2K
FTARRBIKRER

21(b) B A (1R

EXEBEREFEREAEENERE
RAEEREETHA (EEMEAT
M ERRBETSEENE)
NEHEThEBERENEZERAN
SR W ERREED WA NE
HLE-

BRI A PRAT 20202021 £ 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

22,

23.

186

OTHER CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from financing
activities are as follows:

At 1 April
2020
142020
F4R1H
HK$000
FAT

Year ended 31 March 2021 HZE2021E3831HLEEE

22. EthIREREER

METHREENEEHR

AEERMBERFFEENSEESHNT :

Non-cash changes

JEREEE
Net Lease Interest At 31 March
cash flow  modification accrued 2021

#2021

REREPE HEET FEitfE 38318
HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000

FET FET FET FET

Lease liabilties HE&R 728

(425) 382 32 717

At 1 April
2019
142019
F481H
HK$ 000
FET

Year ended 31 March 2020 B E2020F3831H L EE
Lease liabilities HE&aR 1,064

Non-cash changes

FREE
Net Lease Interest At 31 March
cash flow  modification accrued 2020
142020
M HEET FEETRI S F3H31H
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
(380) - 44 728

BANKING FACILITY

At 31 March 2021, the Group had a banking facility of
HK$5,000,000 (2020: HK$5,000,000) granted by a financial
institution in Hong Kong. The banking facility is secured by
corporate guarantee issued by the Company.

At 31 March 2021, the Group had undrawn amount under the
banking facility of HK$3,730,000 (2020: HK$5,000,000).
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23. IRITRE

FR2021F38318  AEBEE —REE
TR AB IR T HVIRTTREEE5,000,00078 7T
(20204 : 5,000,000 70) ° $RITREE L
RNBBITHABERIEAIRTF

R2021E3831H  ZEBRIBTRE T~
B IR BV IE 43,730,000 75 (20204 -
5,000,000%7T) ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 24. ARG
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere MRRGe B RERAMMBKE 25
in the consolidated financial statements, during the year, the JSERIN RER AEBARBAE T
Group had the following transactions with related parties: 5
Compensation of key management personnel FEEIEASBF B
The remuneration of directors and other members of key RER > BEE R EMEZEIERN S RH BN
management during the year were as follows: mE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances and H2 ORI R EYH @
benefits in kind 2,586 2,385
Contributions to defined contribution REMIEMNRGTE Z HER
retirement scheme 89 89
2,675 2,474
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in BEHFNNE—TEBHEN GRS T FHR
Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements. FKMIEES(a) ©
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kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021

25.

188

B F20219F3531 HILFZ

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of bank
balances and cash, other receivables, other payables and bank
overdrafts. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise and maintain finance for the Group's operations. The
Group has various other financial instruments such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk and liquidity risk. The management generally
adopts conservative strategies on its risk management and
limits the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum level
as follows:

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position, which is net of
loss allowances, represents the Group's exposure to credit risk
without taking into account the value of any collateral held or
other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables

Management of the Group has a credit limit policy in place and
exposures to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. In
order to minimise credit risk, management of the Group has
established credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure appropriate actions are taken to recover
overdue debts.
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ﬁ?fEZOEZ%%EEIEE@IEﬁH%ﬁE%ZK

EENEESERMERBE - AEBEER
yﬁﬁﬂﬂiwﬂlﬁ (& 7 W RERE

SRNME)  ZETAERREHER
mEe

rEEERMIAEMEENTIEZRABAE
EEBERABETRAR AEEEERE—
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EEENZERBEERE FEAOT

EERE
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(EHFBEER AREAEENEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default
risk of the industry in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. Credit quality of a
customer is assessed based on background search assessment
and individual credit limit which is mainly based on the Group's
own trading records.

The credit period granted to customers was ranging from 0 to
120 days. The ageing of gross trade receivables by invoice date

is as follows:

Within 30 days 30K

31 to 60 days 31E60K
61 to 90 days 61ZE90K
91 to 365 days 91E365K
More than one year Bl —a

25. BHEBEEEBRREE @

FERRE (#@)

ESRYHE ()

FEEAZEERRZEETERRR
FZENFMEREE - ERAREENTEZ
BHRBITTZEEERR BREEEM-
ERFNERERRES RBAENENE
ANERBEEETHGL ZFEEEENE
EEBINRFmkxke

BRIERZEERR/NFOE120K - 28
RABEINE Z BB IBBEENRE
LI

2021 2020
20215 2020€
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
18,647 13,444
7,404 6,282
9,352 9,417
15,503 27,191
2,410 —
53,316 56,334
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25.

190

Bl FE20214F3531H IEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 29% (2020: 39%) and 84%
(2020: 79%) of the total trade receivables were made up by
the Group’s largest outstanding balance and the five largest
outstanding balances respectively.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of
customers and the trade receivables are categorised by
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers' abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance, if any, based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date and has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s estimate on
future economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.
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EERR @)

B S RBYHE (#)

PR EHIR > AR E S EWEIBAEZE Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  25. B REGEEBEERKE &)

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil

At the end of the reporting period, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of approximately HK$1,525,000 (2020:
approximately HK$1,263,000) on the trade receivables from
sales of diesel oil. The movement in the loss allowance for

trade receivables from sales of diesel oil during the year is
summarised below:

At the beginning of the Reporting Period #2#R 25 HA#])

Increase in allowance on the trade RESHHEENE S
receivables from sales of diesel oil JE U R IE R B 5 12 N
At the end of the Reporting Period R EHAR

FERRE (#@)

ESRYHE ()

KA E BB 5 WA

REEHR AEBEMEBEHHEENE
7 WS RIE e 50 R (B B5 18 491,525,000 7T
(20204 : £91,263,000787T) ° ANEE KK
BEHEENE ZEKREIBMNEGEE S
SEFMIT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
1,263 =
262 1,263
1,525 1,263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  25. B EGEEBEERKE &)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERE &
Trade receivables (Continued) BZEWKE (&)
Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued) KE S HE &R E Z W E (B
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
As at 31 March 2021 $2202143H31H TREA4ERE  FRERE HEEE 2 EERE
HK$000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Not past due RigHR 0.5% 38,668 193 No #&
Within 30 days overdue #IHA30R Y 1.5% 2,922 44 No £
31 - 60 days overdue A HA31E60K 3% 2,382 72 No £
61 — 90 days overdue #HA61E90K 6% 1,854 1M1 No &
91 — 365 days overdue IR 365K 15% 5,473 821 No &
More than one year overdue #HABIB—F 100% 284 284 Yes B
51,583 1,525

192  SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND  25. B REGEEBEERKE &)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERKR @)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWZIE (1B)
Trade receivables from sales of diesel oil (Continued) K EHEE I E R E SN IE (42
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount  allowance impaired
As at 31 March 2020 722020538318 TEHRIBRE  EREARE HEEE 2 FEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Not past due FRiEHR 0.5% 34,106 170 No %
Within 30 days overdue BHA30K A 1.5% 10,482 157 No #&
31 - 60 days overdue HHA31E60K 3% 2,723 82 No %%
61— 90 days overdue #HA61E 90K 6% 2,157 129 No #&
More than 90 days overdue  #IHBEBEI0OKR 15% 4,833 725 No %%
54,301 1,263
Trade receivables from sales of steam coal KEE IR ERE Z W
The management assesses that the life-time ECL for the EEENMAaRBE—FREEIIEHE
trade receivables from sales of steam coal amounted to ENEZEWIET,733,000% 7 (2020
HK$1,733,000 (2020: HK$2,033,000) which overdue over £F 1 2,033,000 7T) NFEHRTEHREESRE
one year are credit-impaired (2020: not impaired), thus loss BEEEERE (2020F  #/E) » HE
allowance of HK$1,733,000 was recognised during the year A HESD BI85 1,733,0005 7T (20204
(2020: Nil). ) o
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables F220215F %2020F3H831H » N EE I &
from sales of diesel oil and sales of steam coal as at 31 March TR B MIHE REN N HHENE ZE
2021 and 2020. WRIBR B R AER Mo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

25.

194

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk on bank balances and cash is limited because
majority of the counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies with good reputation. No loss allowance was

recognised for both years.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the year.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of bank balances and cash as well as
adequate banking facilities to meet its operation needs at any
time.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period based on contractual
undiscounted payments is summarised below:

As at 31 March 2021 $$202143H31H
Trade payables I=0Z) INEE]
Other payables H e TRIB
Bank overdrafts IRITEX

Lease liabilities GEN-$=NE

As at 31 March 2020 122020534318
Trade payables B2 ENTRIE
Other payables H & FIE
Lease liabilities HEaE

Fair value

All financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at
amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2021 and 2020.

> 4

25. BHEBEEEBRREE @

mBETRE (&

FEENBRSEENEZERTRERH
HRBETH R URFRERTTENIRTT
mER R @B UK ENIRTRRE U
BERmeHEERE

ERGHRMBNR AEERBREHR
WERM e RERBERESANT -

On demand
or less than 1to
1 year 2 years Total
BEKRZ
ER—F —EmE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FAET FET
5,033 - 5,033
2,694 - 2,694
1,270 - 1,270
442 304 746
9,439 304 9,743
1,844 - 1,844
1,893 - 1,893
440 320 760
4177 320 4,497
AFE

FFETRMEBERESRMABEHUEAER
2021 K%2020F3A31HN A EL EE
ARERNETIERo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

26.

27.

196

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted but not ~ FHUREEWI % = K
provided for in the consolidated financial &5 E 2 4I1E &k
statements in respect of acquisition of ~ RS M FEREREE

property, plant and equipment =P NEE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment
of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from
equity owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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26.

27.

BEARAE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
1,052 1,817
BEXEER

AEBEEAEENEEABRRAEERA
ERERENENRAERER ABE
ClR - xEFASEEEARBLEL A
B oaRngaEE ARNRE A#a
A NBEWREIE RS HESE ELUR LD
B o MEE2021F 5202038315 1k
FE ZEE BRI EFSEmLEES



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries
Bank balances

Current liabilities
Other payables

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

FRBEE
KRB ARNKE

MENEE

FE UK Bt B A B R IR
RITAEER

mREER
Hth &SR8

MENEEFE

BEFE

28. ZATMB KRR

Notes

Kzt

11

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
39,231 39,471
17 65
39,248 39,536
25 19
39,223 39,517
39,223 39,517
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kRE MR M

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143531H IEFE

28.

198

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28. ZABMBRAR @)
COMPANY (Continued)
2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Kzt FAET FAET
Capital and reserves BARKEHE
Share capital & < 20 4,000 4,000
Reserves EX 28 (a) 35,223 35,517
TOTAL EQUITY WS IBEE 39,223 39,517
This statement of financial position was approved and BRI RENR2021F6822AEES
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on and signed on SHUERIEETE  WHTHESFSARE
its behalf by 22 June 2021. Eo
LAW Ming Yik LI Isaiah
BE RS
Director Director
EFE EZx

SUN KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR RME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #{E202143/531H IEFZ

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28. mRBHERAER @)
COMPANY (Continued)
28(a) Movement of reserves 28(a) (1 EE)

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B iEE HitE1E Hast
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAET FAET FAET
(Note 21(a))
(H1z£21(a)
At 1 April 2019 7201954818 44,810 (9,045) 35,765
Loss and total comprehensive £EFE 518 5 2 M k5184848
loss for the year — (248) (248)
At 31 March 2020 and 722020538318 &
1 April 2020 20204818 44,810 (9,293) 35,517
Loss and total comprehensive FEE518 % 2 M E51848%8
loss for the year — (294) (294)
At 31 March 2021 122021538318 44,810 (9,587) 35,223

BRI ARAT 20202021 5 199




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEEE

RESULT
2017
20178
HK$'000
FET
Revenue Wz 387,369
Cost of sales 5 E A (368,267)
Gross profit E7 19,102
Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive  EEEH]/ (518) k2 AW G,/
income(loss) for the year (1) 45 12,355
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2017
20174
HK$'000
FET
Non-current asset FrRBEE 5,846
Current assets REEE 17,165
Non-current liabilities Framas 2,743
Current liabilities REaE 9,619
Net current assets REEETE 7,546
Net assets BEZE 10,649

The summary above does not from part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

No consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 have been published.

The financial information for the year ended 31 March 2017 were
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 21 December
2018. Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the
Group had been in existence throughout these financial years and
is presented on the basis as set out in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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e
For the year ended 31 March
HE3AMALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021
20185 2019 2020 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET FET
443,436 474,236 351,113 240,112
(420,961) (454,425) (338,464) (237,976)
22,475 19,811 12,649 2,136
4,882 (179) 1,699 (7,503)
EERERE
As at 31 March
H3H31H

2018 2019 2020 2021
20185 20194 2020 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAET AT FET
3,912 5,031 9,378 9,687
21,219 64,731 58,467 55,185
1,348 416 1,033 299
11,452 8,384 4,151 9,415
9,767 56,347 54,316 45,770
12,331 60,962 62,661 55,158

J: AR EFBUEERGEM B RERN—

o

ti/

AEFWRTBEE2017F3831HIEFEEZ
EEMBIRE o

HE2017F3831HIEEEZHBEERER B
AATIHEAA2018F12H21 B2 BB ER A
R ED B NAEERTRBEBNZEM K
FEBEERE WURESHBHRERM 2R
FHEEZS o
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